# **Air Toxics Hot Spots Program**

### Isoprene

## Cancer Inhalation Unit Risk Factor

Technical Support Document for Cancer Potency Factors Appendix B

January 2025

Air and Site Assessment and Climate Indicators Branch

Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment

California Environmental Protection Agency



Page Intentionally Left Blank

### Isoprene

### **Cancer Inhalation Unit Risk Factor**

Technical Support Document for Cancer Potency Factors Appendix B

#### Prepared by the

#### **Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment**

David Edwards, Ph.D., Acting Director

#### Project Leads, in alphabetical order

Daryn E. Dodge, Ph.D. Ken Kloc, Ph.D., M.P.H.

#### Contributors, in alphabetical order

Vanessa Cheng, Ph.D. Rose Schmitz, M.S. Rona M. Silva, Ph.D. Moira Sullivan, M.S. Feng C. Tsai, Ph.D., M.S.

#### Technical Reviewers, in alphabetical order

Kannan Krishnan, Ph.D. Martha Sandy, Ph.D., M.P.H. Meng Sun, Ph.D., M.S. Rima Woods, Ph.D.

#### **Executive Reviewers**

Vincent Cogliano, Ph.D. Lauren Zeise, Ph.D.

#### January 2025

### Page Intentionally Left Blank

#### CONTENTS

List of Abbreviationsv
Prefacevi
I. PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES 1
II. HEALTH ASSESSMENT VALUES 1
III. OCCURRENCE AND MAJOR USES 1
Endogenous Isoprene Production 3
IV. CARCINOGENICITY
Rodent Carcinogenicity Studies 4
Epidemiology15
Metabolism16
Genotoxicity
V. CANCER HAZARD EVALUATION
VI. QUANTITATIVE CANCER RISK ASSESSMENT
Primary Data Sets for Analysis28
Dose-Response Model28
Dose Metric for Quantitative Analysis28
Effective Tumor Incidences
Benchmark Dose Calculations35
Inhalation Unit Risk Factor40
VII. REFERENCES
Appendix A: Literature search
Appendix B: Benchmark dose modeling of tumors in male rats (NTP, 1999)B-1

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1a: Incidence of primary tumors in male rats exposed by inhalation to isoprene for six months, followed by a six-month recovery period (NTP, 1995)	6
Table 1b. Incidence of primary tumors in male mice exposed by inhalation to isoprene for six months, followed by a six-month recovery period (NTP, 1995)	7
Table 2a. Incidence of primary tumors in male mice exposed to isoprene byinhalation for 80 weeks (Placke et al., 1996).	. 10
Table 2b. Incidence of primary tumors in female mice exposed to isoprene byinhalation for 80 weeks (Placke et al., 1996).	. 11
Table 3. Incidence of primary tumors in male and female rats exposed byinhalation to isoprene for two years (NTP, 1999)	. 14
Table 4. Genetic and related effects of isoprene and selected metabolites	. 22
Table 5a. Calculated average daily dose of isoprene in male and female mice(Placke et al., 1996)	. 32
Table 5b. Calculated average daily dose of isoprene in male and female rats (NTP, 1999)	. 32
Table 6. Effective tumor incidence in male and female rats exposed to isopreneby inhalation for two years (NTP, 1999).	. 34
Table 7. BMDS modeling results for 80-week isoprene inhalation exposure studyin male and female mice (Placke et al., 1996).	. 37
Table 8. BMDS modeling results for the two-year isoprene inhalation exposure   study in male and female rats (NTP, 1999).	. 39

BD	1 3-butadiene	ma/ka-d	Milligrams per kilogram of body
BMD	Benchmark Dose		weight per day
BMDL	95% lower confidence limit for	mg/m <sup>3</sup>	Milligrams per cubic meter
	the Benchmark Dose	MLE	Maximum likelihood estimate
BMDS	Benchmark Dose Modeling	MOA	Mode of action
	Software	mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
BMR	Benchmark Response	µg/L	Micrograms per liter
BR <sub>a or h</sub>	Breathing Rate (animal or	µg/m³	Micrograms per cubic meter
D\//	Rody weight (animal or human)	µmol/hr	Micromoles per hour
	California Air Posourcos Board	µmol/kg-d	Micromoles per kilogram BW per
CAND	The	umol/l	day Micromoles per liter
cDNA	Complementary	n n	Number
	deoxyribonucleic acid		Not determined
cEH	Cytosolic epoxide hydrolase		Not determined
CEIDARS	California Emissions Inventory	MILIIS	Health Sciences, The
	Development and Reporting	Nmol/L	Nanomoles per liter
005	System Concer Slope Factor (animal or	NRC	National Research Council, The
CSFa or h	buman)	NT	Not tested
CYP	Cytochrome P450 enzyme	NTP	National Toxicology Program, The
CYP246	Cytochrome P450 246	OEHHA	Office of Environmental Health
	isoenzvme		Hazard Assessment, The
CYP2B6	Cvtochrome P450 2B6	(hour) <sup>–1</sup>	Per hour
	isoenzyme	(µg/m³) <sup>–1</sup>	Per microgram per cubic meter
CYP2D6	Cytochrome P450 2D6	(mg/kg-d) <sup>-1</sup>	Per milligram per kilogram of body
	isoenzyme	1	weight per day
CYP2E1	Cytochrome P450 2E1	(ppb) <sup>-</sup> '	Per part per billion
	isoenzyme	РВРК	Physiologically-based
°C	Degrees Celsius	DIC	pharmacokinetic or toxicokinetic
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	PK	
ECHA	European Chemicals Agency,	POD	Point of departure
	The	ррр	Parts per billion
EH	Epoxide hydrolase	ppm	Parts per million
GST	Glutathione-S-transferase	ppt	Parts per trillion
IARC	International Agency for	SD	Standard deviation
	Research on Cancer, The	ICEQ	Texas Commission on
IUR		тоі	
	(ITOHT OETTIA)		Tochnical Support Document
	95% lower confidence limit on		Init Risk Factor (from TOEO)
	the effective concentration		United States Environmental
	corresponding to 10% extra risk		Protection Agency The
mEH	Microsomal epoxide hvdrolase	VOC	Volatile Organic Compound

#### List of Abbreviations

#### Preface

The Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) is legislatively mandated to develop guidelines for conducting health risk assessments under the Air Toxics Hot Spots Program (Health and Safety Code section 44360(b)(2)). In response to this statutory requirement, OEHHA developed a <u>Technical Support</u> <u>Document</u> (TSD) that describes the methodology for deriving inhalation unit risk factors (IURs) and cancer slope factors (CSFs) for carcinogenic Hot Spots air pollutants. The methodology in the TSD explicitly considers possible differential effects on the health of infants, children, and other sensitive subpopulations under the mandate of the Children's Environmental Health Protection Act (Senate Bill 25, Escutia, Chapter 731, Statutes of 1999, Health and Safety Code Sections 39669.5 et seq.), including procedures for evaluating increased susceptibility to carcinogens.

The IUR defines the excess cancer risk associated with continuous inhalation exposure to a given carcinogen at 1 microgram per cubic meter ( $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) over a lifetime. The CSF estimates excess lifetime cancer risk associated with exposure at 1 milligram per kilogram of body weight per day (mg/kg-d). In the Hot Spots Program, the IUR and CSF are used for calculating cancer risks from chemical exposures above the background levels.

CARB requested that OEHHA derive an IUR for isoprene (CARB, 2024; CARB 2013), due to its presence in biogas emissions and in the air of residential areas near oil and gas operations. The similarity in chemical structure to 1,3-butadiene, a known human carcinogen, was also a motivating factor for deriving an IUR specific for isoprene.

The current document summarizes the carcinogenicity data supporting OEHHA's derivation of an isoprene IUR under the Air Toxics Hot Spots Program. Isoprene is listed as a chemical known to cause cancer in California's Proposition 65 Program. Isoprene is also "presumed" by the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) to cause cancer to humans (Group 1B), classified by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) as "possibly carcinogenic to humans" (Group 2B), and "reasonably anticipated to be a human carcinogen" by the United States National Toxicology Program (NTP).

The literature summarized and referenced in the present document covers the relevant publicly available reports and original peer-reviewed research articles on isoprene through July 2024 (See Appendix A). Individual reports summarized herein were primarily those that would be useful for deriving or supporting an IUR for isoprene, including experimental animal carcinogenicity and genetic toxicity studies.

Key isoprene studies investigating human exposure, toxicokinetics, and mechanisms of carcinogenicity were also summarized in this document.

#### ISOPRENE

Chemical Abstracts Service Registry Number: 78-79-5



#### I. PHYSICAL AND CHEMICAL PROPERTIES

(NOAA, 1999; NCBI, 2023)

Molecular formula:	C <sub>5</sub> H <sub>8</sub>
Molecular weight:	68.12 grams per mole
Synonym:	2-methyl-1,3-butadiene; isopentadiene
Description:	Colorless liquid with a mild, petroleum-like odor
Relative gas density:	2.35 (air = 1)
Specific gravity	0.681 @ 20°C (liquid)
Boiling point:	34°C
Melting point:	-145.95°C
Vapor pressure:	550 Torr at 25°C
Solubility:	Miscible with ethanol, ethyl ether, acetone, and benzene;
	"very poor" solubility in water (642 milligrams per liter at 25°C)
Conversion factor:	1 part per billion (ppb) = 2.79 micrograms per cubic meter
	(µg/m³)

#### **II. HEALTH ASSESSMENT VALUES**

Inhalation Unit Risk Factor (IUR):	5.4 × 10 <sup>-6</sup> per microgram per cubic meter $(\mu g/m^3)^{-1}$ ; 1.5 × 10 <sup>-5</sup> per part per billion (ppb) <sup>-1</sup>
Cancer Slope Factor (CSF):	1.9 × 10 <sup>−2</sup> per milligram per kilogram of body weight per day (mg/kg-d) <sup>−1</sup>

#### **III. OCCURRENCE AND MAJOR USES**

Isoprene is a by-product of the thermal cracking of naphtha and is used mainly to make synthetic isoprene rubber, which is used mainly in the manufacture of vehicle tires but also in the manufacture of footwear (IARC, 1994). Isoprene is also used to

produce butyl rubber for manufactured goods such as hoses and liners in tubeless tires. In addition, the manufacture of styrene-isoprene-styrene polymers is used to make thermoplastic rubber and pressure-sensitive or thermosetting adhesives.

Emitted in large amounts by vegetation, particularly mosses, ferns, and trees (Sharkey and Yeh, 2001), isoprene is found at low concentrations in ambient air. California's biogenic isoprene emissions (i.e., those from vegetation and soil microbes) are estimated to be 1636 tons per day (CARB, 2023). Isoprene air concentrations in the United States (US) have been reported in the range of 0.2 to 4.2 ppb (0.6 to 12  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>; NTP, 2021). Isoprene is also present in some foods, such as roasted coffee and orange oil, and is produced endogenously in (and emitted by) mammals. In addition to synthetic rubber production, other anthropogenic isoprene sources include rubber abrasion, biomass combustion, wood pulping, tobacco smoking, and exhaust from turbines and automobiles. Wildfires and smoke plume composition are other sources of isoprene exposure (Simmons et al., 2022).

Isoprene is the largest source of volatile non-methane hydrocarbons emitted into Earth's atmosphere. It comprises 50% of the total non-methane hydrocarbon emissions from the biosphere (Loreto and Sharkey, 1993). Global isoprene emissions range from 1.5 to 2.2 million tons of isoprene per day (Guenther et al., 2006), contributing to one-third of the total volatile organic compound (VOC) emissions (Kiendler-Scharr et al., 2009). Per US EPA's Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) database, for the year 2021 (the most recent TRI data available), a total of 187,880 pounds of on-site disposal or other releases were reported for isoprene (US EPA, 2023). The TRI program comprises chemical releases and pollution prevention activities reported by industrial and federal facilities.

Estimated anthropogenic isoprene emissions in California in 2017 were 186 tons per year (approximately 0.5 tons per day), primarily from mobile sources, as off-road equipment, on-road emissions, and recreational boats accounted for about 31%, 29%, and 28% of the total anthropogenic isoprene emissions, respectively (CARB, 2019). The California Emissions Inventory Development and Reporting System (CEIDARS) contains statewide emissions data for all reported point sources and lists 12 facilities (stationary sources) in California that emit isoprene.

Liu et al. (2022) measured the composition and reactivity of VOCs, including isoprene, in the South Coast Air Basin and San Joaquin Valley of California in the summer of 2019. The average and maximum isoprene concentrations were 178 and 651 parts per trillion (ppt; 0.5 and 1.8  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), respectively, for the South Coast Air Basin and 36 and 298 ppt (0.1 and 0.8  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), respectively, for the San Joaquin Valley. Wernis et al. (2022) looked at major sources of pollution in Livermore, CA,

over 10 days. Several volatile and semi-volatile compounds, including isoprene, were identified. The mean isoprene concentration measured in the study was 68 ppt  $(0.19 \ \mu g/m^3)$ , with peaks in the early morning and early evening. Isoprene was found to correlate with benzene and several other gasoline markers, providing support for attributing these isoprene emissions to anthropogenic sources. Other investigators have reported correlations between isoprene and pollutants of known vehicle traffic origin (Reimann et al., 2000; Borbon et al., 2001; Lee and Wang, 2006; Hellen et al., 2012).

#### Endogenous Isoprene Production

Isoprene is endogenously produced in humans at an estimated rate of 0.34 micromoles per kilogram of body weight per hour (Filser et al.,1996; Hurst, 2007) and is a major VOC found in human breath. The primary site of production in the body is muscle tissue (Mochalski et al., 2023). Isoprene in exhaled breath of humans is thought to result predominantly from conversion of isopentenyl diphosphate to dimethylallyl pyrophosphate in skeletal-myocellular peroxisomes as part of muscular lipolytic cholesterol metabolism (Sukul et al., 2023). Isoprene is also generated during lipolytic cholesterol metabolism in the endoplasmic reticulum of hepatocytes but is largely metabolized within the liver before reaching the bloodstream.

For adults at rest, steady-state isoprene concentrations in end-tidal breath are 70 to 133 ppb (195 to 371  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) by volume for the 25<sup>th</sup> to 75<sup>th</sup> quantile range (Mochalski et al., 2023). Mean (± standard deviation; SD) breath levels are lower in young children [28 ± 24 ppb (78 ± 67  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>), age 7 to 10 years] compared to adults but increase with increasing age of the child (Smith et al., 2010). Very low or undetectable isoprene levels in the exhaled breath of newborn infants have been reported (Nelson et al., 1998). Lower breath levels in children and infants are correlated with lower muscle mass compared to adults (Mochalski et al., 2023). Mean ± SD blood levels of isoprene in adults were measured by Cailleux et al. (1992) at 37 ± 25 nanomoles per liter (nmol/L). Blood levels of isoprene in other animals, such as rats, rabbits, pigs, and dogs, were more than 30 times lower compared to humans and undetectable levels of isoprene in breath (Miekisch et al., 2001; Sukul et al., 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> An early study by Peter et al. (1987) reported higher rates of endogenous isoprene in mice and rats. However, this finding was called into question by Filser et al. (1996), who reevaluated the data and concluded that the chemical being measured by Peter et al. was acetone.

Isoprene is likely produced in peripheral tissues and liver but not in the muscle tissue of pigs.

#### **IV. CARCINOGENICITY**

Isoprene has been listed as a chemical known to cause cancer in California's Proposition 65 Program since 1996 (OEHHA, 1996). This listing was based upon the classification of isoprene as "possibly carcinogenic to humans" (a 2B carcinogen) by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC, 1994). Since then, isoprene has been recognized as "reasonably anticipated to be a human carcinogen" by the National Toxicology Program (NTP, 2021) and "presumed to be carcinogenic in humans" (a 1B carcinogen) by the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA, 2023)<sup>2</sup>. These designations were based on increased tumor formation at multiple organ sites in rodents exposed to isoprene via inhalation. No human epidemiological studies on the carcinogenicity of isoprene were found in the literature by OEHHA, IARC (1999), NTP (2021), or ECHA (2023).

#### **Rodent Carcinogenicity Studies**

Three reports (NTP, 1995; Placke et al., 1996; NTP, 1999) with several studies were reviewed to characterize the carcinogenicity of isoprene in rats and mice by inhalation exposure. Statistical analysis of tumor incidence data was performed by OEHHA using the exact conditional Cochran-Armitage test for linear trend (i.e., exact trend test) and the one-tailed Fisher's exact test for pairwise comparisons as recommended for carcinogen risk assessment (US EPA, 2005). A one-tailed test was used by OEHHA to determine if there is an increase in tumor incidences in the treated groups compared to controls (i.e., the null hypothesis is that there is no statistically significant increase in tumor incidence between the control group and an isoprene-exposed group).

#### NTP (1995)

In the 1995 one-year, stop-exposure study by NTP, male F344/N rats and male  $B6C3F_1$  mice were exposed to isoprene for six hours per day, five days per week for six months [number (n) = 30/species/exposure group]. In addition to the control [0 parts per million (ppm), 0 mg/m<sup>3</sup>], five isoprene concentrations were tested up to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> ECHA is the agency responsible for implementing the European Union's chemicals legislation (e.g., the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals regulation) to protect human health and the environment.

7000 ppm (19,530 mg/m<sup>3</sup>). Tumor incidence was observed following an additional six-month follow-up period. Marginally increased incidences of testicular adenomas were observed in isoprene-exposed male rats (<u>Table 1a</u>), and statistically significant increases in liver, lung, forestomach, and Harderian gland<sup>3</sup> tumors were found in isoprene-exposed male mice (<u>Table 1b</u>) compared to controls. In the tables mentioned above, the numerator represents the number of tumor-bearing animals; the denominator represents the number of animals examined.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Harderian glands in mice do not have a human counterpart (Albert et al., 1986). They are pigmented lacrimal glands located posterior to the ocular globes and are found in rodents and some other mammals. The glands release a lipid- and porphyrin-rich material that lubricates the eyes and eyelids. Concordance of site or tumor type between animal models and humans is not assumed or required (OEHHA, 2009; US EPA 2005). Agents observed to produce tumors in both humans and animals have produced tumors either at the same site or different sites. The overarching principle is that tumor induction (at any site) in animals is assumed to indicate the ability of an agent to cause tumors in humans.

## Table 1a: Incidence of primary tumors in male rats exposed by inhalation to isoprene for six months, followed by a six-month recovery period (NTP, 1995).

	Cancer						
Rat Cancer	0	70	220	700	2200	7000	Trend
Endpoint	ppm,	ppm,	ppm,	ppm,	ppm,	ppm,	test
	0 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	195 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	614 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	1953 mg/m³	6138 mg/m³	19,530 mg/m³	<i>p</i> -value <sup>a</sup>
Testes: Adenoma	3/30	3/30	4/30	7/30	8/29	9/30	0.021

<sup>(a)</sup> The Cochran-Armitage trend test was conducted by the National Toxicology Program (NTP).

Table 1b. Incidence of primary tumors in male mice exposed by inhalation to
isoprene for six months, followed by a six-month recovery period (NTP, 1995).

	Ca						
Mouse Cancer	0 ppm,	70 ppm,	220 ppm,	700 ppm,	2200 ppm,	7000 ppm,	Trend test
	0 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	195 mg/m³	614 mg/m³	1953 mg/m³	6138 mg/m³	19,530 mg/m³	<i>p</i> -value <sup>ª</sup>
Liver: Adenoma	4/30	2/30	6/29	15/30**	18/30**	16/28**	<0.001
Liver: Carcinoma	4/30	1/30	3/29	5/30	4/30	9/28*	<0.001
Liver: Adenoma or Carcinoma	7/30	3/30	7/29	15/30*	18/30**	17/28**	<0.001
Lung: Adenoma	2/30	2/30	1/29	4/30	10/30*	8/28*	<0.001
Lung: Carcinoma	0/30	0/30	0/29	1/30	1/30	3/28	0.003
Lung: Adenoma or Carcinoma	2/30	2/30	1/29	5/30	10/30*	9/28*	<0.001
Forestomach: Squamous Cell Papilloma	0/30	0/30	0/30	1/30	2/30	5/30	0.001
Forestomach: Squamous Cell Carcinoma	0/30	0/30	0/30	0/30	2/30	1/30	0.159
Forestomach: Squamous Cell Papilloma or Carcinoma	0/30	0/30	0/30	1/30	4/30	6/30*	<0.001
Harderian Gland: Adenoma	2/30	6/30	4/30	14/30**	13/30**	12/30**	<0.001

Abbreviations: \* *p*-value < 0.05, \*\* *p*-value < 0.01 by Fisher's exact test as reported by the National Toxicology Program (NTP,1995) in Table B5; mg/m<sup>3</sup> – milligrams per cubic meter; ppm – parts per million

<sup>(a)</sup> Logistic regression trend test performed by NTP.

Tumor incidence data for liver adenoma and carcinoma, lung bronchiolar/alveolar adenoma and carcinoma, and forestomach squamous cell papilloma and carcinoma are presented separately and combined in <u>Table 1b</u>. The rationale and guidelines for combining certain neoplasms and sites are discussed by Brix et al. (2010) and McConnell et al. (1986). This guidance is used by US EPA (2005) and OEHHA (2009) for carcinogen risk assessment. The recommendation is that benign and malignant neoplasms of the same cell origin be analyzed separately and in combination. Likewise, neoplasms with the same histogenesis but showing different morphologic and cellular features should be analyzed separately and in combination.

#### Placke et al. (1996)

The statistically and/or biologically significant tumor incidences from the second inhalation study (Placke et al., 1996), conducted with B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice, are presented in Tables <u>2a</u> and <u>2b</u> for males and females, respectively. The primary exposure protocol in this study was eight hours per day, five days per week, over an 80-week exposure period, with a total study time of 105 weeks. Groups of male and female mice (n = 50/sex/group) were exposed to isoprene concentrations of 0, 10, 70, 280, 700, or 2200 ppm (0, 28, 195, 781, 1953, or 6138 mg/m<sup>3</sup>), with females excluded from the three highest exposures. The exposures included a 7-minute ramp-up time to reach 90% of the target exposure concentration, resulting in a total exposure time of 8.12 hours on exposure days. Several additional exposure schedules were implemented to examine the effect of exposure intensity on carcinogenic potency. These included exposure periods of 20 or 40 weeks and daily exposures for four (instead of eight) hours. Results from the 20- and 40-week exposure studies are not summarized in the present document.

Due to decreased survival in the 280-, 700-, and 2200-ppm (781-, 1953-, and 6138-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) male mice relative to controls, necropsy was performed at 96 weeks for these three exposure groups rather than 105 weeks. Life tables and appearance-of-first-tumor information were not presented in the report. However, the authors reported that by week 95, male mice in the three highest exposure groups had near or below 50% survival rates. The high mortality of these male mice was associated with a greater number of tumors than controls. Survival in the males exposed to  $\leq$  70 ppm ( $\leq$  195 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) remained generally above 60% through week 105. No effects on the survival of isoprene-exposed female mouse groups were noted.

In the primary exposure protocol, significant increases in liver, lung (alveolar/bronchiolar), and Harderian gland tumors were observed in isopreneexposed male mice compared to their control counterparts (<u>Table 2a</u>). These findings were consistent with the tumor sites observed in the NTP (1995) stop-exposure study. For lung adenomas, a significantly lower number of neoplasms was observed in the 70-ppm ( $\leq$  195-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) group as compared to both concurrent and historical controls. Historical control incidence data were not available for the lab that conducted the Placke study. Although not directly comparable, the historical control incidence for lung adenomas in male mice from time-matched NTP inhalation carcinogenicity studies was 21.2% (NTP, 2023). While the control animals in the Placke et al. (1996) study had a 22% incidence of lung adenomas, the 70-ppm (195mg/m<sup>3</sup>) exposure group had only an 8% incidence.

Forestomach squamous cell papillomas and squamous cell carcinomas were found in some male mice at 280 ppm (781 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) or greater, with a statistically significant trend observed for squamous cell carcinomas. However, statistically significant pairwise increases in the incidences of these tumors were not observed compared to control mice. Non-statistically significant increases in histiocytic sarcomas were also reported by Placke et al. (1996). Combined incidence data were not provided for tumor types in which both adenomas and carcinomas were observed. Thus, it is unknown to OEHHA which animals had adenomas and/or carcinomas for specific tumor types.

	Cancer Incidence by Isoprene Concentration							
Male Mouse Cancer Endpoint	0 ppm, 0	10 ppm, 27.9	70 ppm, 195	280 ppm, 781	700 ppm, 1953	2200 ppm, 6138	Trend test <i>p</i> -valueª	
	mg/m <sup>3</sup>	mg/m <sup>3</sup>	mg/m <sup>3</sup>	mg/m <sup>3</sup>	mg/m <sup>3</sup>	mg/m <sup>3</sup>		
Liver: Adenoma	11/50	12/50	15/50	24/50**	27/48**	30/50**	<0.0001	
Liver: Carcinoma	9/50	6/50	9/50	16/50	17/48*	16/50	0.0167	
Lung: Adenoma	11/50	16/50	4/50 <sup>b</sup>	13/50	23/50**	30/50**	<0.0001	
Lung: Carcinoma	0/50	1/50	2/50	1/50	7/50**	7/50**	0.0011	
Forestomach: Squamous Papilloma	0/50	0/48	0/50	0/50	1/47	1/50	0.0824	
Forestomach: Squamous Carcinoma	0/50	0/48	0/50	1/50	0/47	3/50	0.0069	
Harderian Gland: Adenoma	4/47	4/49	9/50	17/50**	26/49**	35/50**	<0.0001	
Harderian Gland: Carcinoma	0/47	0/49	0/50	1/50	3/49	2/50	0.0537	
Histiocytic Sarcoma	0/50	2/50	2/50	4/50	2/50	2/50	0.3916	

Table 2a. Incidence of primary tumors in male mice exposed to isoprene by inhalation for 80 weeks (Placke et al., 1996).

Abbreviations: \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01 by one-tailed Fisher's exact test conducted by OEHHA; mg/m<sup>3</sup> – milligrams per cubic meter; ppm – parts per million.

<sup>(a)</sup> The exact trend test conducted by OEHHA.

<sup>(b)</sup> Pairwise comparison of lung alveolar/bronchiolar adenomas of the 70 ppm (195 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) group was statistically significantly lower (p < 0.05) compared to the control group.

In addition to the tumors shown in <u>Table 2a</u>, cardiac hemangiosarcomas were found in one 280-ppm male, two 700-ppm males, and one 2200-ppm male (781, 1953, and 6138 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively). The authors stated that these tumors are rare in male mice, as historical control B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice from previous 2-year inhalation studies have not developed this tumor.

In female mice, exposure-related increases in spleen, pituitary gland, and Harderian gland neoplasms were found (Table 2b).

	Cancer Inc Co	Trend			
Female Mouse Cancer Endpoint	0 ppm, 0 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	10 ppm, 27.9 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	70 ppm, 195 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	test <i>p</i> -value <sup>b</sup>	
Harderian Gland: Adenoma°	2/49	3/49	8/49*	0.0173	
Spleen: Hemangiosarcoma	1/50	1/49	4/50	0.0773	
Pituitary Gland: Adenoma <sup>c</sup>	1/49	6/46*	9/49**	0.0149	

Table 2b. Incidence of primary tumors in female mice exposed to isoprene by inhalation for 80 weeks (Placke et al., 1996)<sup>a</sup>.

Abbreviations: mg/m<sup>3</sup> – milligrams per cubic meter; ppm – parts per million.

<sup>(a)</sup> Statistical comparisons of cancer incidence in the control and isoprene-exposed groups are based on one-tailed Fisher's exact tests; \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01.

<sup>(b)</sup> The exact trend test was conducted by OEHHA.

<sup>(c)</sup> No carcinomas of this tumor type were found in female mice.

The incidence of spleen hemangiosarcomas was reported by Placke et al. (1996) to be exposure-related, given historical control data from NTP carcinogenicity inhalation studies showing the tumors are rare (mean = 0.61%, 4 of 654 mice). In contrast, the authors noted that the mean incidences of Harderian and pituitary gland adenomas in NTP's historical controls were higher and more variable at 22/662 (range: 0% to 16%) and 127/659 (range: 2% to 44%), respectively. The percent incidence of Harderian and pituitary gland adenomas in high-exposure (70-ppm; 195-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) female mice in Table 2b were 16.3% and 18.3%, respectively, suggesting to the

authors that these tumors may not be exposure-related. While OEHHA considers concurrent control animal data the most appropriate comparison when evaluating tumor incidence data (IARC, 2019), we note that the more appropriate historical control data would come from the same laboratory as that in which the Placke et al. studies were conducted, using female B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice that were from the same supplier, fed the same diet, and housed under the same conditions as the Placke et al. studies. Therefore, the significantly increased incidences of Harderian and pituitary gland adenomas compared to concurrent controls were considered exposure-related by OEHHA.

The lack of a statistically significant increase in spleen hemangiosarcomas compared to concurrent controls (p = 0.18 by Fisher's exact test) and a lack of a statistically significant trend (p > 0.05 by exact trend test) led OEHHA to exclude this tumor in the dose-response assessment, as it was not expected to contribute significantly to the overall cancer potency. However, this tumor was considered by OEHHA to be a treatment-related finding.

#### NTP (1999)

The focus of the third report, conducted by NTP (1999), was two-year inhalation bioassays in male and female F344/N rats (n = 50/sex/exposure group). Male and female rats were exposed to isoprene at 0, 220, 700, or 7000 ppm (0, 614, 1953, or 19,530 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) six hours/day, five days/week for 104 weeks. The exposures included a 12-minute ramp-up time to reach 90% of the target exposure concentration. Therefore, the total exposure time on exposure days was 6.2 hours. Male and female survival and body weight (BW) were unaffected by isoprene during the two-year exposures.

The statistically significant and/or biologically noteworthy tumor incidences in male and female rats are shown in <u>Table 3</u>. In male rats, "clear evidence of carcinogenic activity" was found based upon increased incidences of renal tubule, mammary gland, and testicular interstitial cell neoplasms. Exposure-dependent increases in renal tubule adenomas and adenomas or carcinomas (combined) were observed with single-section examinations of the kidneys. The incidence of tubule adenomas was increased in the 7000-ppm (19,530-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) group compared to the concurrent control group (p < 0.05) and was above the historical control incidence range (0% to 4%). Extended evaluations using step sectioning (8 sections per kidney) resulted in an increased incidence of renal tubule adenomas in the 700- and 7000-ppm (1953- and 19,530-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) exposure groups compared to the control group (p < 0.05 and p <0.01, respectively). Histopathologic changes associated with male-rat-specific alpha 2µ-globulin protein droplet accumulation were not observed in the isoprene-exposed males.

There were significantly increased incidences of mammary gland fibroadenomas and multiple fibroadenomas in 7000-ppm (19,530-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) males compared to the control group (<u>Table 3</u>; multiple fibroadenoma data not shown). The increase in mammary gland fibroadenomas was exposure-dependent and above the historical control range (0% to 6%) in all isoprene-exposed groups. Mammary gland carcinomas were observed in one male rat in each of the 220- and 700-ppm (614- and 1953-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) groups and two animals in the 7000-ppm (19,530-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) group. The incidence of mammary gland carcinomas did not reach statistical significance in any of the isoprene-exposed groups but is rare in control male rats (Historical incidence: 1 in 905 controls; range 0% to 2%). NTP considered the presence of these carcinomas to be treatment related. Mammary gland fibroadenomas can arise from adenomas and can progress to adenocarcinomas (McConnell et al. 1986; Eighmy et al. 2018). Thus, these mammary gland tumors are shown separately and combined in <u>Table 3</u>.

An exposure-dependent increase in interstitial cell adenomas of the testis was also observed in the male rats. Incidences of these tumors in the 700- and 7000-ppm (1953- and 19,530-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) groups were significantly increased compared to the control group (p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, respectively). The historical control range (46% to 83%) for testicular interstitial cell adenomas was also surpassed in the 700- and 7000-ppm (1953- and 19,530-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) groups.

In female rats, significantly increased incidences of mammary gland fibroadenomas were observed in all isoprene-exposed groups compared to controls (Table 3). Female rats with multiple fibroadenomas were also significantly increased (p < 0.01) in the two highest isoprene-exposed groups (data not shown). The incidence of mammary gland fibroadenomas in the isoprene-exposed groups ranged from 64% to 70%. This range was above the historical control incidence range of 20% to 54% for female rats. The incidence of mammary gland carcinoma was not increased in isoprene-exposed female rats compared to controls.

		Canc Ex	Tasad			
Sex	Tumor Type	0 ppm, 0 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	220 ppm, 614 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	700 ppm, 1953 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	7000 ppm, 19,530 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	test p-value⁵
	Kidney: Renal Tubule Adenoma or Carcinoma – single section <sup>°</sup>	0/50	2/50	2/50	6/50*	0.0053
Male	Kidney: Renal Tubule Adenoma or Carcinoma – Single + step sections (combined)	2/50	4/50	8/50*	15/50*	<0.001
	Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma	2/50	4/50	6/50	21/50**	<0.0001
	Mammary Gland: Carcinoma	0/50	1/50	1/50	2/50	0.1196
	Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma or Carcinoma	2/50	5/50	7/50	21/50**	<0.0001
	Testes: Adenoma	33/50	37/50	44/50*	48/50**	<0.0001
Famala	Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma	19/50	35/50**	32/50**	32/50**	0.1582
Female	Mammary Gland: Carcinoma	4/50	2/50	1/50	3/50	0.4601

## Table 3. Incidence of primary tumors in male and female rats exposed by inhalation to isoprene for two years (NTP, 1999)<sup>a</sup>.

Abbreviations: NTP – National Toxicology Program; mg/m<sup>3</sup> – milligrams per cubic meter; ppm – parts per million.

<sup>(a)</sup> Statistical comparisons of cancer incidence in the control and isoprene-exposed groups are based on one-tailed Fisher's exact tests; \* *p*-value < 0.05, \*\* *p*-value < 0.01.

<sup>(b)</sup> The exact trend test was conducted by OEHHA.

<sup>(c)</sup> A single kidney renal tubule carcinoma was found during single sectioning in a 700-ppm (1953-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) male rat that also had an adenoma. No further carcinomas were found following step sectioning.

NTP noted that the incidences of mammary gland neoplasms in all exposed groups of female rats were greater than those in the chamber control group and nearly equal at each of the three concentrations studied. This dose response resulted in a non-significant trend (p = 0.16). The supralinear appearance of the tumor incidence data suggested to NTP that lower doses than those used in the study would better characterize the dose response for mammary gland tumors in female rats. Therefore, NTP determined there was "some evidence of carcinogenic activity" of isoprene in female rats due to the increased incidence and multiplicity of mammary gland fibroadenomas.

Several rare brain tumors that have seldom or never occurred in female historical control rats were observed in isoprene-exposed female rats from the NTP (1999) study. These tumors included a benign astrocytoma in a 700-ppm (1953-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) rat, a malignant glioma in a 7000-ppm (19,530-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) rat, a malignant medulloblastoma in a different 7000-ppm rat, a benign granular cell tumor of the meninges in one 220-ppm (614-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) and one 7000-ppm rat, and a sarcoma of the meninges in one 220-ppm and one 7000-ppm rat. However, the lack of 1) an effect on survival, 2) a consistent decrease in the age at which the tumors appeared, 3) a dose-response relationship, and 4) a predominance of any one tumor type, led NTP to conclude that it was uncertain whether these tumors resulted from isoprene exposure.

#### **Epidemiology**

Isoprene is the raw material used in several kinds of rubber. Exposure may occur during the manufacture of synthetic rubber and elastomers (i.e., elastic polymers). However, the processes in producing rubber for tires and other rubber products involve hundreds of chemicals, many of which are known or suspected to be carcinogenic, including N-nitrosamines, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and some solvents and phthalates. IARC (1982; 2012) concluded that "occupational exposures in the rubber-manufacturing industry are carcinogenic to humans (Group 1)". The IARC Working Group noted the complexity of these occupational exposures "precluded a clear conclusion about an association between cancer mortality and incidence and exposure to particular chemicals (except historically well-known associations between 2-naphthylamine and bladder cancer and benzene and leukaemia)" (IARC, 2012).

In a meta-analysis that included case control and cohort studies of cancer risk in the rubber manufacturing industry up to 2016, an increased risk for bladder cancer, lung cancer, leukemia and larynx cancer was found (Boniol et al., 2017). In a stratified analysis, elevated risks for bladder cancer, lung cancer or leukemia were no longer apparent for workers first employed after 1960 or after 1970. The authors suggested

this result was due to major reductions in rubber dust and fume exposure since the 1950s, resulting in decreased carcinogen exposure (most notably benzene and 1,3-butadiene).

Occupational exposure data specific for isoprene is limited to only two older Russian studies. IARC (2012) summarized the results from Pigolev (1968) and Faustov (1972) that found isoprene concentrations in polymerization and rubber separation shops in Russia averaged 8 to 40 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (2.9 to 14 ppm).

IARC also summarized the non-cancer findings of another Russian study by Mitin (1969) in which the upper respiratory tract effects in isoprene rubber production workers were investigated. Toxic effects noted in these workers were subtrophic and atrophic processes (i. e., atrophied or smaller/weaker tissue) in the upper respiratory tract, catarrhal inflammation (i.e., upper airway inflammation of mucous membranes), and degeneration of the olfactory tract. Duration of employment of the workers showed a positive correlation with the prevalence and degree of toxic effects. The contribution of isoprene exposure was unclear from this report. OEHHA notes that NTP (1999) did not observe injury to olfactory epithelium or other upper respiratory tract tissues in 2-year exposures of male and female rats to isoprene.

#### <u>Metabolism</u>

Isoprene metabolism in rodents and humans is like that of 1,3-butadiene (BD), an analog of isoprene and listed for cancer by California's Proposition 65 Program. As outlined in <u>Figure 1</u>, it involves enzymatic activation by the cytochrome P450 (CYP) system to various epoxide intermediates<sup>4</sup>, followed by enzyme-catalyzed hydrolysis, glutathione conjugation, and further oxidation of the diols formed via hydrolysis (NTP, 1999; Hurst, 2007; NTP, 2021).

Experimental results upon which the metabolic scheme is based include the following.

Inhalation exposure of male F344 rats to isoprene concentrations of 8 to 8200 ppm (22 to 22,878 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) produced mono-epoxides, diols, the diepoxide, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The two initial mono-epoxide intermediates of isoprene are referred to by different authors as "2-ethenyl-2-methyl oxirane (1,2-epoxy-2-methyl-3-butene) and 2-(1-methylethenyl)-oxirane (3,4-epoxy-2-methyl-l-butene)."

metabolite conjugates in blood, liver, kidney, lung, and other tissues (Dahl et al., 1987).

- Liver microsomes from rodents and humans converted isoprene to its monoepoxides and the diepoxide and converted the epoxides into diols and glutathione conjugates (Small, 1997; Bogaards et al., 2001; Golding et al., 2003).
- Liver microsomes from male Sprague-Dawley rats converted the isoprene diepoxide into an epoxy-diol, and liver microsomes from phenobarbital- or pyrazole-treated rats converted isoprene diols into epoxy-diols at a slow rate (Chiappe et al., 2000).
- The main urinary metabolites of isoprene in rats were 2-methyl-3-butene-1,2diol together with its glucuronide and vinyl lactic acid (2-hydroxy-2-methyl-3butenoic acid) after intraperitoneal injection (Buckley et al., 1999).

Although not indicated in Figure 1, isoprene's metabolites exist as various stereoisomers<sup>5</sup>. Several investigators have looked at the differential rates of formation and reactivity of these stereoisomers *in vitro* and found evidence for metabolic variability among some of them (Chiappe et al., 2000; Golding et al., 2003). Given the limited understanding of isoprene's carcinogenic mechanism of action, a detailed consideration of metabolite stereoisomerism was not necessary for determining the IUR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A stereoisomer is "any of a group of isomers in which atoms are linked in the same order but differ in their spatial arrangement" (Merriam-Webster, 2023b).



**Figure 1. Metabolic Pathways of Isoprene.** P450 = Cytochrome P450 enzyme (primarily the CYP2E1 isozyme); GST = Glutathione-S-Transferase enzyme; EH = Epoxide Hydrolase enzyme; Figure adapted from NTP (1999), Chiappe et al. (2000), and Bogaards et al. (2001).

The epoxides of isoprene appear to be produced mainly by the CYP2E1 isoenzyme. Bogaards et al. (1996) used microsomes from complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA)-transfected human lymphoblastoid cells to test individual CYP isozymes and found that CYP2E1 was able to convert isoprene to its mono-epoxides and diepoxide. In contrast, the other forms were either inactive or—in the case of CYPs 2A6, 2B6, and 2D6—less active, forming smaller quantities of only one epoxide, 2ethenyl-2-methyloxirane. In human liver microsomes, epoxide formation was significantly correlated only with chlorzoxazone oxidation, with *p*-values of < 0.05 and < 0.01 for correlation coefficients ranging from 0.71 to 0.82. Chlorzoxazone is used as a specific marker of CYP2E1 activity.

CYP2E1 is found mostly in the liver, though small amounts of this isoform are also present in the lungs, kidneys, and small intestines (Pavek & Dvorak, 2008). Studies

that have modeled the pharmacokinetic behavior of inhaled isoprene in animals and humans (e.g., Bogaards et al., 2001; Csanády and Filser, 2001) have assumed that 10% to 13% of CYP450-mediated oxidation occurs outside the liver.

The mono-epoxides and diepoxide of isoprene appear to be deactivated predominantly by hydrolysis via microsomal epoxide hydrolase (mEH). For example, *in vitro* intrinsic clearance values for 2-ethenyl-2-methyloxirane in human liver microsomes were 3582 per hour (hour)<sup>-1</sup> for mEH hydrolysis but only 25 (hour)<sup>-1</sup> and 0.11 (hour)<sup>-1</sup> for cytosolic epoxide hydrolase (cEH)-mediated hydrolysis and glutathione-S-transferase (GST)-mediated conjugation, respectively (Bogaards et al., 2001). Also, the diepoxide was a substrate only of mEH (ibid). Not much information is available on the metabolic deactivation of isoprene's diol-epoxides, but rat-liver mEH was found incapable of hydrolyzing them (Chiappe et al., 2000).

Toxicokinetic studies of isoprene-exposed mice and rats have indicated that metabolic saturation of the oxidative pathway occurs at the higher isoprene exposure concentrations tested in the available rodent carcinogenicity studies. For example, Peter et al. (1990) found that the initial enzymatic oxidation of isoprene follows Michaelis-Menten kinetics with a first-order<sup>6</sup> isoprene-to-epoxide turnover rate up to an exposure concentration of about 300 ppm (837 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) and saturation occurring at about 1000 ppm (2790 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) in rats and 2000 ppm (5580 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) in mice. The studies chosen by OEHHA for the dose-response assessment included several concentrations above 300 ppm (837 mg/m<sup>3</sup>).

Overall, the risk-relevant part of isoprene metabolism in humans consists mainly of the activation-deactivation sequence mediated by CYP2E1 and mEH. Isoprene is oxidized by CYP2E1 to its mono-epoxides and diepoxide, and these metabolites are hydrolyzed by mEH to alkene-diols and diol-epoxides. To a lesser extent, epoxidation may be accomplished by other CYP isoforms, such as CYP2D6, and the epoxides may be deactivated by GST-mediated conjugation or cEH-mediated hydrolysis. The diol-epoxides appear to be formed primarily through hydrolysis of the diepoxide, as opposed to CYP450 epoxidation of the alkene-diols.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Michaelis-Menten kinetics can be defined as "the behavior of an enzyme-catalyzed reaction with a single substrate especially as exhibited by plotting the velocity of the reaction against the concentration of the substrate which yields a hyperbolic curve approaching a horizontal asymptote rather than yielding a straight line as in nonenzymatic reactions" (Merriam-Webster, 2023a). A "first order" rate of a reaction is one that increases in direct proportion to the concentration of enzyme substrate.

Certain subpopulations may be more susceptible to the carcinogenic action of isoprene if enhanced bioactivation due to induction of CYP2E1 occurs. For example, ethanol is the most well-known inducer of CYP2E1 (Hakkola et al., 2020). Tobacco smoking can also induce CYP2E1, probably through exposure to compounds that are known inducers, (e.g., benzene derivatives). In addition, medications such as isoniazid and oral all-*trans* retinoic acid have been shown to induce CYP2E1 (ibid).

#### **Genotoxicity**

Studies on the genotoxicity of isoprene have been reviewed by IARC, NTP, and ECHA. These studies were conducted in various *in vitro* and *in vivo* systems, with and without metabolic activation (<u>Table 4</u>).

IARC (1999) noted that there were no data on the genetic and related effects of isoprene on humans. However, in mice exposed via inhalation, "isoprene could induce sister chromatid exchanges and micronuclei in bone-marrow cells."

According to IARC (1994),

"Neither isoprene nor its primary metabolites, 3,4-epoxy-2-methyl-l-butene and 1,2-epoxy-2-methyl-3-butene, were mutagenic to bacteria. [However,] 2-Methyl-1,2,3,4-diepoxybutane, a metabolite of 3,4-epoxy-2-methyl-1-butene, was mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium*" (Table 4).

NTP (1999) reported similarly mixed results, mostly non-mutagenic findings *in vitro* and some signs of genotoxicity *in vivo*. In summarizing the evidence for genotoxicity, NTP stated:

"Isoprene was not mutagenic in *S. typhimurium* and did not induce sister chromatid exchanges or chromosomal aberrations in cultured Chinese hamster ovary cells with or without exogenous metabolic activation; however, in mice, isoprene induced increases in the frequency of sister chromatid exchanges in bone marrow cells and in the frequency of micronucleated erythrocytes in peripheral blood. The cell cycle duration of proliferating bone marrow cells of mice exposed to 7,000 ppm [19,530 mg/m<sup>3</sup>] isoprene was significantly lengthened. No increases in the frequency of chromosomal aberrations were observed in bone marrow cells of male mice after 12 days of exposure to isoprene, and lung fibroblasts of male and female rats exposed to isoprene for 4 weeks showed no increase in the frequency of micronuclei."

ECHA (2023) lists isoprene as a Class 2 mutagen. Criteria for Class 2 mutagens include mutations in somatic cells *in vivo* and genotoxicity in somatic cells *in vivo* in

combination with mutagenicity *in vitro*. Structural similarity with a known germ-cell mutagen in combination with mutagenicity *in vitro* can also trigger this classification (ECHA, 2018).

#### Table 4. Genetic and related effects of isoprene and selected metabolites<sup>a</sup>.

Biological endpoint	Cell type or species/strain	Chemical	Description	Exogenous metabolic activation		Reference	
				without	with		
	Escherichia coli	Isoprene	WP2 uvr A pKM 101	-	-	ECHA (2023)	
			TA98	-	-		
			TA100	-	-		
		Isoprene	TA1530	-	-	(1981)	
	<i>Salmonella enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium		TA1535	-	-		
			TA1538	-	_		
		Isoprene	TA102	-	NT	Kushi et al. (1985 abstract) Mortelmans et al. (1986)	
Bacterial			TA104	-	NT		
mutation tests		Isoprene	TA98	-	-		
			TA100	-	-		
			TA1535	-	-		
			TA1537	-	-		
			TA98	-	-		
		loopropo	TA100	-	-		
		Isoprene	TA1535	-	-	LUNA (2023)	
			TA1537	-	-		

Abbreviations: minus sign (-) – negative; NT – not tested; plus sign (+) – positive.

<sup>(a)</sup> Data from IARC (1999, Table 2) and NTP (1999, Tables C2 to C7).

Table 4. Genetic and related effe	cts of isoprene and selected	metabolites (continued) <sup>a</sup> .
-----------------------------------	------------------------------	----------------------------------------

Biological endpoint	Cell type or species/strain	Chemical	Description	Exogenous metabolic activation		Reference	
				without	with		
		1,2 Epoxy-2-	TA98	-	NT	Gervasi et al.	
		methylbutene	TA100	-	NT	(1985)	
Bacterial	Salmanalla antoriaa	3,4-Epoxy-2-	TA98	-	NT	. Gervasi et al.	
mutation tests	serovar Typhimurium	methyl-1- butene	TA100	-	NT	(1985)	
(continued)		2-Methyl-	TA98	+	NT	Gervasi et al	
		1,2,3,4- diepoxybutane	TA100	+	NT	(1985)	
Chromosomal damage	Chinese hamster ovary cells	Isoprene	Sister chromatid exchanges	-	-	Galloway et al. (1987)	
			Chromosomal aberrations	-	-		
	Mouse peripheral red blood cells ( <i>in</i> <i>vivo</i> )	Isoprene	Micronuclei after 12-day (6 hours/day) inhalation exposure	+	NT	Tice et al. (1988)	
	Mouse bone marrow cells ( <i>in vivo</i> )	Isoprene	Sister chromatid exchanges after 12-day (6 hours/day) inhalation exposure	+	NT	Tice et al. (1988)	

Abbreviations: minus sign (-) – negative; NT – not tested; plus sign (+) – positive.

<sup>(a)</sup> Data from IARC (1999, Table 2) and NTP (1999, Tables C2 to C7).

Table 4. Genetic and related effe	cts of isoprene and selected	metabolites (continued) <sup>a</sup> .
-----------------------------------	------------------------------	----------------------------------------

Biological endpoint	Cell type or species/strain	Chemical	Description	Exogenous metabolic activation		References
				without	with	
	Mouse bone marrow cells ( <i>in vivo</i> )	lsoprene	Chromosomal aberrations after 12-day (6 hours/day) inhalation exposure	-	NT	Tice et al. (1988)
Chromosomal damage	Mouse peripheral red blood cells ( <i>in</i> <i>vivo</i> )	Isoprene	Micronuclei after 13- week inhalation exposure	+	NT	Jauhar et al. (1988)
(continued) Rat lung f ( <i>in vivo</i> ) Mouse per red blood <i>vivo</i> )	Rat lung fibroblasts ( <i>in vivo</i> )	Isoprene Micronuclei after 4- week inhalation exposure		-	NT	Khan and Heddle (1991, 1992)
	Mouse peripheral red blood cells ( <i>in vivo</i> )	Isoprene	Micronuclei after 40- and 80-week inhalation exposures	+	NT	ECHA (2023); Placke et al. (1996)
Covalent binding to hemoglobin	Mouse red blood cells ( <i>in vivo</i> )	Isoprene	Binding after single intraperitoneal injection exposure	+	NT	Sun et al.,
	Rat red blood cells ( <i>in vivo</i> )		Binding after single intraperitoneal injection exposure	+	NT	(1989)
	Mouse red blood cells ( <i>in vivo</i> )	Isoprene	Binding after 6-hour inhalation exposure	+	NT	Bond et al. (1991)

Abbreviations: minus sign (-) – negative; NT – not tested; plus sign (+) – positive.

<sup>(a)</sup> Data from IARC (1999, Table 2) and NTP (1999, Tables C2 to C7).

In addition to the *in vitro* findings reported by ECHA, IARC, and NTP (<u>Table 4</u>), both isoprene and its mono-epoxide, 2-ethenyl-2-methyloxirane, were shown by Fabiani et al. (2007, 2012) to cause DNA damage in the comet assay using human peripheralblood mononuclear cells and human leukemia cells with microsomal activation. In a 2014 study using the comet assay with human cell types [normal hepatocytes (L02), hepatocellular carcinoma (HepG2), and leukemia cells (HL60)], Li et al. (2014) found evidence of statistically significant DNA damage in all metabolite-exposed cell lines compared to controls. The most genotoxic metabolite was 2-(1-methylethenyl) oxirane, followed by 2-methyl-2,2'-bioxirane and 2-ethenyl-2-methyloxirane. Isoprene's mono-epoxides [i.e., 2-(1-methylethenyl) oxirane and 2-ethenyl-2-methyloxirane] also showed potential genotoxicity by forming deoxyadenosine adducts *in vitro* (Begemann et al., 2011).

*In vivo*, Fred et al. (2005) showed intraperitoneal injection of male C57/Black mice with isoprene epoxide (1,2-epoxy-2-methyl-3-butene) increased micronuclei and hemoglobin adduct formation compared to their untreated counterparts.

Mutagenicity tests have not been carried out on the diol-epoxides of isoprene. However, in the case of structurally similar BD, studies in rodents indicate that one or more of BD's diol-epoxides may contribute significantly to BD's genotoxicity. For example, relatively high diol-epoxide concentrations were found in the blood of mice and rats exposed to BD via inhalation (Filser et al., 2007), and DNA adducts of BD diol-epoxides were found in rodent liver, kidney, and lung tissues. Moreover, DNA adducts of BD diol-epoxides of mice exposed by inhalation (Koc et al., 1999; Koivisto et al., 1999; Koivisto and Peltonen, 2001; Boogaard et al., 2004). Also, an *in vitro* mutagenicity study found that a particular BD diol-epoxide stereoisomer (2R, 3S) was moderately mutagenic, being 10-to 20-fold more potent than the BD mono-epoxides but 5- to 10-fold less mutagenic than the diepoxide (Meng et al., 2010).

These results provide indirect evidence for the possible importance of diol-epoxides in isoprene's mutagenic mode of action (MOA). As noted above, *in vitro* metabolic studies of isoprene showed that several pathways could yield the diol-epoxides, and the primary deactivation pathway (i.e., mEH-mediated hydrolysis) for isoprene's other epoxides may not be operable in this case.

#### V. CANCER HAZARD EVALUATION

Evaluations of the carcinogenicity of isoprene undertaken by national and international agencies point towards a similar conclusion, evidence base, and mechanism of carcinogenicity.

- IARC (1999) concluded that isoprene is "possibly carcinogenic to humans" based on inadequate evidence in humans and sufficient evidence in animals. Their conclusion was supported by genotoxic and multiple-organ neoplastic effects in mice.
- Isoprene has been listed in NTP's Report on Carcinogens since 2000 and is "reasonably anticipated to be a human carcinogen" (NTP, 2021). This listing is based upon "clear evidence of carcinogenic activity"<sup>7</sup> in female mice, male mice, and male rats; "some evidence of carcinogenicity"<sup>8</sup> in female rats; and chromosomal effects in mice exposed to isoprene via inhalation.
- ECHA (2023) noted isoprene is "presumed to be carcinogenic to humans" and "suspected to be mutagenic." Isoprene is also recognized in the European Union as carcinogenic.

Isoprene has been listed as a chemical known to cause cancer in California's Proposition 65 Program since 1996 (OEHHA, 1996). The present assessment aligns with the above conclusions of IARC, NTP, and ECHA regarding the carcinogenicity of isoprene.

Isoprene is produced endogenously in humans, with end-tidal breath concentrations of 70 to 133 ppb (195 to 371  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) in adults and a lower mean concentration of 28 ppb (78  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) in 7–10-year-old children (Mochalski et al., 2023; Smith et al., 2010). Exposure to isoprene in the environment adds to these endogenous levels. Isoprene concentrations in the ambient air range from 0.2 to 4.2 ppb (0.6 to 12  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) in the United States (NTP, 2021). Emissions from facilities that use isoprene could result in concentrations higher than these ambient levels, thereby impacting nearby residential and commercial areas. Antiquated occupational exposure data suggested average isoprene concentrations could reach as high as 2900 to 14,000 ppb (8000 to 40,000

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> NTP uses five evidential categories of carcinogenic activity to summarize the strength of the evidence observed in their carcinogenesis studies. According to NTP (1999), clear evidence of carcinogenic activity is demonstrated by studies that are interpreted as showing a dose-related (i) increase of malignant neoplasms, (ii) increase of a combination of malignant and benign neoplasms, or (iii) marked increase of benign neoplasms if there is an indication from their or other studies of the ability of such tumors to progress to malignancy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Some evidence of carcinogenic activity is demonstrated by studies that are interpreted as showing a chemical-related increased incidence of neoplasms (malignant, benign, or combined) in which the strength of the response is less than that required for clear evidence (NTP, 1999).

 $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) in polymerization and rubber separation facilities (IARC, 1994). Current occupational exposure information for isoprene is unknown but will be less due to improvements in occupational hygiene since the 1950s. Considering the potential biogenic, anthropogenic, and endogenous exposures to isoprene and its structural similarity to 1,3-butadiene, a known human carcinogen, the derivation of an IUR for isoprene was conducted.

#### VI. QUANTITATIVE CANCER RISK ASSESSMENT

Since the dose-response information for isoprene was available in studies conducted with mice and rats, OEHHA estimated the cancer potency<sup>9</sup> of isoprene in humans using a workflow that consisted of the following tasks:

- 1. designating the primary dose-response data set (or sets) to be used in the evaluation; identifying tumor types to be included based on increased rates of tumor formation in isoprene-exposed animals
- 2. choosing the appropriate dose-response model for the quantitative assessment
- 3. defining the dose metric to be used in the dose-response model and estimating the lifetime average daily doses (LADDs) of this dose metric
- 4. adjusting the dose-response data obtained from the primary study to account for intercurrent mortality<sup>10</sup> (for toxicity studies using animals)
- using the United States Environmental Protection Agency's (US EPA's) Benchmark Dose Software (BMDS) with the adjusted dose-response data to obtain a benchmark dose level [BMDL; the 95<sup>th</sup> percentile lower confidence level for the Benchmark Dose (BMD)], carrying out a multitumor risk analysis where appropriate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> OEHHA's cancer potency estimates are presented as Cancer Slope Factors in units of risk per milligram of chemical per kilogram body weight per day  $(mg/kg-d)^{-1}$  and as Inhalation Unit Risk Factors in units of risk per microgram per cubic meter  $(\mu g/m^3)^{-1}$  for external exposure (i.e., exposures above background).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Intercurrent mortality in animal carcinogenicity studies refers to deaths that occur before the end of the study in animals that did not develop the tumor of interest. Specific information on individual animal survival and tumor data may allow for adjustments to the denominator when expressing tumor incidence, to reflect the number of animals that lived long enough to be at risk of developing tumors (i.e., animals that were alive at first occurrence of the tumor of interest).

- 6. converting the BMDL into the incremental cancer risk in animals per unit of exposure (i.e., cancer slope factor in animals, or CSF<sub>a</sub>)
- 7. applying allometric scaling factors to extrapolate from the  $CSF_a$  to a cancer slope factor in humans ( $CSF_h$ )
- 8. converting the CSF<sub>h</sub> [in units of  $(mg/kg-d)^{-1}$ ] into the IUR [in units of  $(\mu g/m^3)^{-1}$ ] that describes the excess cancer risk associated with lifetime inhalation exposure to an isoprene concentration of 1  $\mu g/m^3$

These risk assessment tasks are discussed in more detail in the following sub-sections.

#### Primary Data Sets for Analysis

The Placke et al. (1996) and NTP (1999) rodent studies were chosen for the doseresponse analysis. In these studies, significantly increased tumors were found at multiple sites in male and female mice and in male rats. Increased tumor incidence was observed in one site in female rats. The NTP (1995) stop-exposure study in rats and mice was not used to estimate the IUR due to its short exposure period (6 months) and less-than-lifetime observation period of one year.

#### Dose-Response Model

Based upon the toxicological information presented in the preceding sections, OEHHA determined that isoprene's likely mode of carcinogenic action is via genotoxicity. For carcinogenic substances that appear to act via genotoxicity and/or mutagenicity, OEHHA's 2009 cancer risk assessment guidelines recommend using the multistage cancer model, as implemented in US EPA's BMDS. Thus, OEHHA used the multistage cancer model and adopted the linear low-dose hypothesis<sup>11</sup>.

#### Dose Metric for Quantitative Analysis

OEHHA chose to use the applied dose based on the inhaled isoprene concentration as the metric for dose-response modeling. Two other dose metrics— (1) the internal blood or tissue concentration of one or more of isoprene's epoxides (or the diepoxide), and (2) the rate of the first oxidative step of isoprene's metabolism ("the metabolized dose")—

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The linear low-dose hypothesis asserts that the incremental risk of exposure to a carcinogen increases in direct (linear) proportion to the long-term average daily dose of the substance. Thus, any amount of exposure greater than zero produces some amount of extra cancer risk.

were also considered. However, these alternatives were not used because of insufficient toxicokinetic information, including gaps in the available physiologicallybased pharmacokinetic or toxicokinetic (PBPK) models. The following section briefly describes three PBPK models for isoprene that OEHHA identified in the literature. Reasons for not using the models to define dose metrics for the risk assessment are also provided.

#### **Toxicokinetic Models**

Three publicly available PBPK models for isoprene were identified by OEHHA: NTP (1999), Bogaards et al. (2001), and Csanády and Filser (2001). Each model was evaluated to determine whether it was complete, with methods and results of sufficient quality for use in a dose-response analysis. The adequacy of the models was based upon criteria relating to model applicability, biological relevance (e.g., correct mathematics for the biological mechanisms being modeled), and performance/reliability.

The NTP (1999) model was developed for inhalation exposure and intraperitoneal injection in rats. It included compartments for the lungs, liver, kidneys, gastrointestinal tract, fat, slowly-perfused tissues, venous and arterial blood, peritoneal space, viscera, and urine. The model was designed to simulate concentrations of isoprene and its mono-epoxides in these tissues and to predict concentrations of vinyl lactic acid, isoprene diols, and other metabolic products in urine. CYP450-mediated oxidative metabolism of isoprene to its mono-epoxides was assumed to occur in the liver, kidneys, and lungs, with metabolic activity at 88%, 7%, and 5%, respectively. Oxidation of the mono-epoxides to the diepoxide was assumed to occur only in the liver. Enzymatic hydrolysis and glutathione conjugation of isoprene mono-epoxides were assumed to occur in the liver and lungs. Despite the model's relevance to developing internal dose metrics in rats, its lack of components for humans and mice precluded its use for the dose-response analysis.

The Bogaards et al. (2001) model was formulated for inhalation exposure in rats, mice, and humans. It included formation, hydrolysis, and conjugation of the mono-epoxides and isoprene diepoxide, assuming oxidative metabolism in the liver and lungs (approximately 87% metabolism in the liver and 13% in the lungs). The model was capable of estimating concentrations of isoprene in lungs, liver, fat, kidneys, and rapidly-and slowly-perfused tissue compartments. For the mono-epoxides and isoprene diepoxide, the lungs and liver were modeled separately, and the rest of the body was lumped into one compartment. This model was more complete than the NTP (1999) model and defined internal dose metrics, allowing simulation of exposures in rats, mice, and humans and estimation of the mutagenic isoprene diepoxide tissue concentrations. However, the authors noted that the model was preliminary and designed mainly "to

explain differences in isoprene toxicity between mouse and rat based on *in vitro* metabolism data." Model validation was restricted to isoprene concentrations in the mouse. Due to the lack of relevant published data in humans and rodents, no additional validation was attempted to gauge the model's accuracy in predicting any epoxide or diepoxide metabolites. As such, the model was judged by OEHHA to be of questionable reliability for use in the dose-response evaluation.

The Csanády and Filser (2001) model simulated CYP450-mediated isoprene clearance in rats, mice, and humans, including five tissue compartments (lung, liver, richlyperfused tissue, fat, and muscle). Isoprene metabolism was assumed in the model to occur in the liver (90%) and richly-perfused tissue (10%). Although this model is relatively simple and adequately reproduced limited measured data on isoprene in rats, mice, and humans, it lacks components for simulating isoprene epoxide concentrations in blood or other organs. Further, OEHHA could not replicate the results of the published model simulations in rats, mice, and humans based on information on model structure, model equations, and parameter values retrieved from the peer-reviewed literature.

None of the available PBPK models were considered by OEHHA to be fully adequate for simulating the alternative dose metrics relevant to risk assessment. Moreover, the appropriate dose metric for cancer risk assessment has not been definitively identified for isoprene [i.e., parent compound, metabolites (primary, secondary, or tertiary), or a combination thereof]. Thus, OEHHA used the applied dose (based on the inhaled concentration of isoprene) as the metric for estimating the cancer potency of inhaled isoprene.

#### **Dose Calculations for Mice and Rats**

For mice in the Placke et al. (1996) studies, the isoprene chamber concentrations of 0, 10, 70, 280, 700, and 2200 ppm were time-adjusted and converted to mg/m<sup>3</sup> (8.12 hours  $\div$  24 hours  $\times$  5 days  $\div$  7 days  $\times$  weeks on study  $\div$  104 weeks (or time to necropsy)  $\times$  2.79 mg/m<sup>3</sup>  $\div$  1 ppm). Time adjustment is carried out to convert the intermittent chamber exposure conditions to continuous exposure over the life span of the animals (i.e., to simulate an annualized average air concentration). There were 96 weeks on study (time to necropsy) for the 280-, 700-, and 2200-ppm male mice and 104 weeks for the other groups, with 80 weeks of isoprene exposure (weeks on study) for all groups. The time-adjusted concentrations based on time to necropsy were 0, 5.19, 36.31, 157.33, 393.31, and 1236.13 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively.

For rats in the NTP (1999) studies, the isoprene chamber concentrations (0, 220, 700, and 7000 ppm) were also time-adjusted and converted to  $mg/m^3$  (6.2 hours ÷ 24 hours

× 5 days ÷ 7 days × 104 weeks on study ÷ 104 weeks × 2.79 mg/m<sup>3</sup> ÷ 1 ppm). The timeadjusted concentrations were 0, 113.26, 360.38, and 3603.75 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively.

The lifetime average daily dose, in mg/kg-d, is used for calculating the cancer potencies (Tables <u>5a</u> and <u>5b</u>). The time-weighted average body weight throughout the study is used to determine the inhalation rate (IR) to calculate the daily dose. Body weight data were not provided for mice in the Placke et al. (1996) studies. Thus, standard body weight values of 0.03 kg and 0.025 kg were used in the present assessment for male and female B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice, respectively (Gold and Zeiger, 1997). In the NTP rat studies, the weighted average lifetime body weights for the control group in both sexes were calculated based on the regular reporting of group mean body weights during the two-year exposure (NTP, 1999). The time-weighted average body weights were 0.446 and 0.274 kg for the control male and female rats, respectively.

The formulas to calculate the IR based on rodent body weight reflect proportional differences of body weight (BW<sup>2/3</sup>) on the respiratory rate within a species. The IR for mice was determined using Equation 6.1a by Anderson et al. (1983).

Mice: IR (m<sup>3</sup>/day) = 0.0345 m<sup>3</sup>/day × (BW ÷ 0.025 kg)<sup>2/3</sup> Equation 6.1a

Where:IR= Inhalation rate (m³/day)BW= Time-weighted average body weight (kg)

The IR was determined for rats using Equation 6.1b by OEHHA (2018).

Rats: IR (m<sup>3</sup>/day) = 0.702 m<sup>3</sup>/day-kg × (BW)<sup>2/3</sup> Equation 6.1b

The calculated daily IRs for mice were 0.039 and 0.0345 m<sup>3</sup>/day for males and females, respectively. The calculated daily IRs for rats were 0.410 and 0.296 for males and females, respectively. The lifetime average daily doses for male and female mice and rats (shown in Tables 5a and 5b) were calculated using the following equation.

Dose (mg/kg BW-day) = IR × C ÷ BW

Where C = time-adjusted isoprene concentration  $(mg/m^3)$ .

## Table 5a. Calculated average daily dose of isoprene in male and female mice(Placke et al., 1996).

		Isoprene Chamber Concentration						
Parameter	Sex	0 ppm, 0 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	10 ppm, 28 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	70 ppm, 195 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	280 ppm, 781 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	700 ppm, 1953 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	2200 ppm, 6138 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	
Average	Males	0	6.74	47.20	204.52	511.31	1606.96	
daily dose (mg/kg-d)	Females	0	7.16	50.10	ND	ND	ND	

Abbreviations: mg/kg-d - milligrams per kilogram of body weight per day;  $mg/m^3 - milligrams$  per cubic meter; ppm – parts per million; ND – no data (no exposure group at this concentration).

able 5b. Calculated average daily dose of isoprene in male and female rats (NT	ГΡ,
999).	

		Isoprene Chamber Concentration				
Parameter	Sex	0 ppm,	220 ppm,	700 ppm,	7000 ppm,	
		0 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	614 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	1953 mg/m³	19,530 mg/m³	
Average daily dose	Males	0	104.12	331.29	3312.86	
(mg/kg-d)	Females	0	122.35	389.31	3893.10	

Abbreviations: mg/kg-d – milligrams per kilogram of body weight per day; mg/m<sup>3</sup> – milligrams per cubic meter; ppm – parts per million.

#### Effective Tumor Incidences

When available, individual animal survival data in carcinogenicity studies are used to determine the effective tumor incidence. The effective tumor incidence is the number of tumor-bearing animals (numerator) over the number of animals alive at the time of the first occurrence of the tumor (denominator). This method of tallying tumor incidence

removes animals from the assessment that died before they are considered at risk for tumor development. Animals with missing tissue or tissues (e.g., due to autolysis) at the tumor site were also removed from the assessment. Individual survival data were not presented for mice in the Placke et al. (1996) studies, so the effective tumor incidence could not be determined. In these circumstances, the overall incidence data in Tables <u>2a</u> and <u>2b</u> were used for cancer risk assessment in the mice. The effective tumor incidences in rats (<u>Table 6</u>) were determined from individual rat survival data from the NTP (1999) studies. Statistical analysis of the effective tumor incidence data was performed by OEHHA using the exact conditional Cochran-Armitage test for linear trend (i.e., exact trend test) and the one-tailed Fisher's exact test for pairwise comparisons as recommended for carcinogen risk assessment (US EPA, 2005).

Table 6. Effective tumor incidence in male and female rats exposed to isoprene	by inhalation for two years (NTP,
1999) <sup>a,b</sup> .	

			Incidence by concentration				Statistical <i>p</i> -values for trend test or pairwise comparison with controls			
Sex and Species Tumor Type		0 ppm, 0 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	220 ppm, 614 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	700 ppm, 1953 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	7000 ppm, 19,530 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	Trend℃	220 ppm, 614 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	700 ppm, 1953 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	7000 ppm, 19,530 mg/m <sup>3</sup>	
	Kidney: Renal Tubule Adenoma or Carcinoma – Single + step sections (combined) <sup>d</sup>	2/38	4/42	8/40	15/44**	0.0004	0.387	0.052	0.001	
Male Rats	Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma	2/32	4/33	6/34	21/35**	<0.0001	0.351	0.149	<0.001	
	Mammary Gland: Carcinoma	0/21	1/15	1/18	2/18	0.1087	0.417	0.461	0.206	
	Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma or Carcinoma	2/32	5/33	7/34	21/35**	<0.0001	0.226	0.089	<0.001	
	Testis: Interstitial Cell Adenoma	33/48	37/50	44/50*	48/48**	< 0.0001	0.657	0.027	< 0.001	
Female Rats	Mammary Gland: Fibroadenoma	19/49	35/49**	32/48**	32/48**	0.1273	0.002	0.008	0.008	

<sup>(a)</sup> Incidence ratio after adjusting for intercurrent mortality using the effective number adjustment method (i.e., number alive on the day of the first tumor). Effective tumor incidences were determined from data provided by NTP (1999) in Table A2.

<sup>(b)</sup> \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.01; *p*-value indicators are from pairwise comparisons with controls using one-tailed Fisher's exact tests performed by OEHHA.

<sup>(c)</sup> *p*-values in the trend column are for the exact trend test performed by OEHHA

<sup>(d)</sup> A single kidney renal tubule carcinoma was found during single sectioning in a 700-ppm (1953-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) male rat that also had an adenoma. No further carcinomas were found following step sectioning.

#### **Benchmark Dose Calculations**

The US EPA's BMD methodology and BMDS (version 3.3) were used to perform the multistage cancer model calculations (US EPA, 2022a). In the multistage model, cancer potency is estimated based on the following expression relating the lifetime probability of a tumor at a specific site (p) to dose (d):

$$p(d) = \beta_0 + (1 - \beta_0) (1 - \exp[-(\beta_1 d + \beta_2 d^2 + ... + \beta_j d^j)])$$

In the above equation, "d" represents the average daily dose resulting from a uniform, continuous exposure over the nominal lifetime of the animal (two years for both rats and mice). When using a study in which the exposures vary in time, the exposures are averaged over the study period and modeled as uniform and continuous. The coefficients ( $\beta_0$ ,  $\beta_1$ , etc.) are parameters estimated by fitting the data using maximum likelihood methods.

BMD analyses were run for the mouse and rat tumor data that were identified as treatment-related and showed a statistically significant increase above control values and/or a statistically significant positive trend. Tumors of the same histological cell type or tissue type were combined for dose-response assessment (McConnell et al., 1986; Brix et al., 2010).

For large datasets such as those by NTP, a Benchmark Response (BMR) of 5% is recommended by OEHHA (2008) for the BMD and the 95% lower confidence bound (i.e., BMDL). First-, 2<sup>nd</sup>-, and 3<sup>rd</sup>-degree multistage models were run for all suitable tumor data sets, and the most appropriate model fit was chosen based on BMD technical guidance (US EPA, 2022).

Since isoprene induced significant increases in tumors at multiple sites in male mice, male rats, and female mice, the combined cancer potency was estimated using the multisite tumor module provided in BMDS. The BMDS procedure for summing risks over several tumor sites is based on the profile likelihood method. In this method, the maximum likelihood estimates (MLEs) for the multistage model parameters ( $\beta_i$ ) for each tumor type are added together (i.e.,  $\sum \beta_0$ ,  $\sum \beta_1$ ,  $\sum \beta_2$ , etc.), and the resulting model is used to determine a combined BMD. Then, a confidence interval for the combined BMD is calculated by computing the desired percentile of the chi-squared distribution associated with a likelihood ratio test having one degree of freedom.

#### **Benchmark Dose Results**

The BMDS results, including the BMD and BMDL values and adequacy measures related to the model fit, are presented in Tables  $\underline{7}$  and  $\underline{8}$ . CSFs for mice and rats in

units of  $(mg/kg-d)^{-1}$  were calculated as  $0.05 \div BMDL$ , where 0.05 represents the 5% tumor response. Equivalent human CSFs (i.e., CSF<sub>h</sub> values) were calculated from animal CSFs (CSF<sub>a</sub> values) by multiplying the CSF<sub>a</sub> by the ratio of human-to-animal body weights (BW<sub>h</sub>  $\div$  BW<sub>a</sub>) raised to the one-fourth power when animal potency is expressed in units of  $(mg/kg-d)^{-1}$ :

 $CSF_h = CSF_a \times (BW_h \div BW_a)^{1/4}$ 

The body weights for mice and rats applied in the equation were the same values described above for the average daily dose calculation. The default body weight for humans is 70 kg (OEHHA, 2009). This interspecies scaling approach is used to account for differences between test animals and humans in pharmacokinetics (e.g., breathing rate, metabolism), and pharmacodynamics (e.g., tissue responses to chemical exposure) (U.S. EPA, 2005).

BMD modeling results of mouse data from Placke et al. (1996) are presented in <u>Table 7</u>. Combined adenoma/carcinoma data in individual mice were not reported. Thus, OEHHA chose to model the data for adenomas since, for each of the sites modeled (liver, lung, and Harderian gland), the increase of adenomas was larger than that of carcinomas. BMD modeling of the male mouse alveolar/bronchiolar lung adenoma data did not provide a model with adequate goodness of fit (p = 0.02).

Following US EPA (2012) Benchmark Dose Modeling Guidance, the highest dose group was removed, and modeling was repeated, with no success. Repetition of this exercise by sequentially removing two additional dose groups did not yield a model with acceptable goodness of fit. Overall, the male mouse lung adenoma data from Placke et al. (1996) were not amenable to BMD modeling and CSF derivation, likely due to a single treatment group (70-ppm; 195-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) with significantly lower incidence than both the controls and the 10-ppm (27.9-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) dose group (Table 2a). Subsequently, for the purpose of multisite analysis, an adequate model fit was obtained by omitting the 70-ppm (195-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) dose group while modeling the male mouse lung adenoma dataset (p = 0.41; Table 7). However, as shown in Table 7, including the 70-ppm dose group resulted in a similar CSF<sub>h</sub> value (shown in brackets).

While the incidence of forestomach carcinomas in male mice was statistically significant by trend, the number of tumors observed at that site was relatively low compared to the other treatment-related tumor sites (<u>Table 2a</u>). Since the contribution to the overall potency would have been trivial, the male mouse forestomach carcinoma data were not included in the multisite CSF calculation.

Mouse Sex	Tumor Site	BMD (mg/kg-d)	BMDL (mg/kg-d)	Goodness- of-Fit <i>p</i> -value	Animal CSF (mg/kg-d) <sup>-1</sup>	Human CSF (mg/kg-d)⁻¹
	Liver	103.8414	70.7637	0.06	7.07 × 10 <sup>-4</sup>	4.91 × 10 <sup>-3</sup>
Male	Lungª	126.1022 [110.0349]	84.9722 [78.0350]	0.41 [0.02]	5.88 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> [6.41 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> ]	4.09 × 10 <sup>-3</sup> [4.46 × 10 <sup>-3</sup> ]
-	Harderian gland	58.2709	45.3000	0.14	1.10 × 10 <sup>-3</sup>	7.65 × 10⁻³
	Multisite	28.8007 [27.8712]	23.6918 [23.0883]	NA	2.11 × 10 <sup>-3</sup> [2.17 × 10 <sup>-3</sup> ]	1.47 × 10 <sup>-2</sup> [1.51 × 10 <sup>-2</sup> ]
	Harderian gland	18.8411	9.6078	0.96	5.20 × 10 <sup>-3</sup>	3.78 × 10 <sup>-2</sup>
Female	Pituitary	14.6151	7.5741	0.08	6.60 × 10 <sup>-3</sup>	4.80 × 10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Multisite	8.2306	4.9923	NA	1.00 × 10 <sup>-2</sup>	7.27 × 10 <sup>-2</sup>

Table 7. BMDS modeling results for 80-week isoprene inhalation exposure study in male and female mice (Placke et al., 1996).

Abbreviations: BMD – Benchmark Dose; BMDL – Benchmark Dose (Lower confidence level); CSF – cancer slope factor; mg/kg-d – milligrams per kilogram of body weight per day; NA – not applicable (value not available for modeling procedure; (mg/kg-d)<sup>-1</sup> – per milligram per kilogram of body weight per day.

<sup>(a)</sup> BMD modeling of the entire data set yielded a goodness-of-fit *p*-value < 0.05 indicating poor model fit [values given in square brackets], likely due to a single treatment group (70-ppm; 195-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) with significantly lower incidence than both the controls and the 10-ppm (27.9-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) dose group. Subsequently, for the purpose of multisite analysis, an adequate fit to this dataset was obtained by omitting the 70-ppm (195-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) dose group. However, it is notable that inclusion of the 70-ppm dose group resulted in a similar CSF<sub>h</sub> value.

<sup>(b)</sup> Multisite analysis includes liver, lung [sans 70-ppm (195-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) dose group], and Harderian gland adenomas [see footnote (a)].

The male mouse multisite tumor analysis for the three organs provided a multisite  $CSF_h$  of  $1.47 \times 10^{-2} (mg/kg-d)^{-1}$ , while the multisite tumor analysis for female mice provided a  $CSF_h$  of  $7.27 \times 10^{-2} (mg/kg-d)^{-1}$ . Because both benign and malignant tumors were significantly increased in the male mouse, whereas only benign tumors were modeled in the female mouse, OEHHA considered the male mouse to provide the more representative estimate of the CSF<sub>h</sub> in the Placke et al. studies.

The multisite tumor analysis of male rat data in the NTP (1999) study yielded a CSF<sub>h</sub> of  $1.88 \times 10^{-2}$  (mg/kg-d)<sup>-1</sup> (Table 8). BMD modeling of the female rat mammary gland fibroadenoma incidence data resulted in a poor goodness-of-fit (*p*-value = 0.005). The highest dose groups were sequentially dropped until an acceptable goodness-of-fit value was achieved. For mammary gland tumor incidence, the model fit was poor (*p* = 0.017) with the control and two lowest isoprene dose groups. Therefore, the CSF<sub>a</sub> was determined using only the control and low-dose (220-ppm, 614-mg/m<sup>3</sup>) groups. This finding is supported by NTP's conclusion that the dose response for this tumor type would be better characterized at concentrations below the lowest isoprene dose that NTP (1999) used. Additionally, the female rat tumors were observed in male rats. Therefore, OEHHA considered the male rat to provide the more representative estimate of the CSF<sub>h</sub> in the NTP (1999) studies.

Rat Sex	Tumor Site	BMD (mg/kg-d)	BMDL (mg/kg-d)	Goodness -of-Fit <i>p</i> -value	Animal CSF (mg/kg-d) <sup>–1</sup>	Human CSF (mg/kg-d) <sup>-1</sup>
	Kidney	493.9275	294.8393	0.28	1.70 × 10 <sup>-4</sup>	6.02 × 10 <sup>-4</sup>
Male	Mammary gland	200.7235	135.0588	0.60	3.70 × 10 <sup>_4</sup>	1.31 × 10⁻³
	Testes	18.0411	10.1144	0.98	4.94 × 10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.75 × 10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Multisite	16.0165	9.4390	NA	5.30 × 10 <sup>-3</sup>	1.88 × 10 <sup>-2</sup>
Female	Mammary gland	8.2344	5.1825	NA	9.65 × 10⁻³	3.86 × 10 <sup>-2</sup>

### Table 8. BMDS modeling results for the two-year isoprene inhalation exposure study in male and female rats (NTP, 1999).

Abbreviations: BMD – Benchmark Dose; BMDL – Benchmark Dose (Lower confidence level); mg/kg-d – milligrams per kilogram of body weight per day; NA – not available (value not available for modeling procedure); NTP – National Toxicology Program; (mg/kg-d)<sup>-1</sup> – per milligram per kilogram of body weight per day.

The calculated CSF<sub>h</sub> values in Tables  $\underline{7}$  and 8 give a range of values across tumor sites and species. The four data sets analyzed are from sensitive studies of sufficient quality.

The CSF<sub>h</sub> from the Placke et al. (1996) study in male mice was based on benign tumor incidence data for the treatment-related sites modeled (liver, lung, Harderian gland). Both benign and malignant tumors were significantly elevated but, as discussed previously, the combined adenoma/carcinoma data in individual mice were not reported in the study. The CSF<sub>h</sub> based on the NTP (1999) male rat study was derived by modeling tumor incidence data for each of the three treatment-related tumors (renal tubule adenoma and carcinoma combined, mammary gland fibroadenoma and carcinoma combined, testicular interstitial cell adenoma). In contrast to the Placke et al. study, the tumors modeled in the NTP study included both benign and malignant tumors.

Based on the modeled results, the multisite analysis in the NTP (1999) male rats was chosen by OEHHA as the critical data set, with a  $CSF_h$  value of  $1.9 \times 10^{-2} (mg/kg-d)^{-1}$ , rounded to two significant figures in the final assessment. This value is similar to the other robust  $CSF_h$  estimate,  $1.5 \times 10^{-2} (mg/kg-d)^{-1}$ , from the

Placke et al. study in male mice. Graphical presentations of the BMD model results for male rat kidney adenomas or carcinomas combined, mammary gland fibroadenomas or carcinomas combined, and testicular interstitial cell adenomas are shown in Appendix B.

#### Inhalation Unit Risk Factor

The IUR describes the excess cancer risk associated with inhalation exposure to a concentration of  $1 \ \mu g/m^3$  and is derived from the CSF<sub>h</sub> as shown below.

 $IUR = (CSF_h \times BR_h) \div (BW_h \times CF)$ 

Where:

 $BR_h$  = mean human breathing rate (20 m<sup>3</sup>/day)  $BW_h$  = mean human body weight (70 kg) CF = mg-to-µg conversion factor of 1000

Use of the equation above with the isoprene CSF<sub>h</sub> of  $1.9 \times 10^{-2} \text{ (mg/kg-d)}^{-1}$  results in a calculated IUR of  $5.4 \times 10^{-6} \text{ (}\mu\text{g/m}^3\text{)}^{-1} \text{ [}1.5 \times 10^{-5} \text{ (}\text{ppb)}^{-1}\text{]}$ . Thus, the extra cancer risk associated with continuous "adult" lifetime exposure to 1  $\mu\text{g/m}^3$  isoprene is 5.4 in a million.

The US Environmental Protection Agency does not have an inhalation unit risk value for isoprene. The Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) developed a cancer unit risk factor (URF) for isoprene in 2015 (Haney et al.). TCEQ's URF of 2.2  $\times 10^{-8} \ (\mu g/m^3)^{-1} \ [6.2 \times 10^{-8} \ (ppb)^{-1}]$  was based on a single tumor type (liver carcinomas) in male mice, as reported by Placke et al. (1996). This URF included a 20-fold adjustment for cross-species differences in pharmacokinetics. As noted above, OEHHA did not consider that there was an adequate basis for choosing dose metrics different from administered concentrations in conducting the risk assessment.

Isoprene is the 2-methyl analog of 1,3-butadiene. The OEHHA Hot Spots IUR for 1,3butadiene is  $1.7 \times 10^{-4}$  (µg/m<sup>3</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>, approximately 30 times more potent a carcinogen than isoprene (OEHHA, 2009). This difference aligns with genotoxicity and structureactivity data, in which comparison studies of the two chemicals show that 1,3butadiene is the more potent carcinogen (Watson et al., 2001; Soeteman-Hernandez et al., 2016; Golding et al., 2022). For comparison purposes, the IUR values for isoprene other air toxics commonly found in urban ambient air of California are summarized below.

Hexavalent chromium	1.5 × 10 <sup>-1</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>
Arsenic	3.3 × 10 <sup>-3</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>
Diesel exhaust	3.0 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>
Nickel	2.6 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>
Carbon tetrachloride	4.2 × 10 <sup>-5</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>
Benzene	2.9 × 10 <sup>-5</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>
Formaldehyde	6.0 × 10 <sup>-6</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>
Isoprene	5.4 × 10 <sup>-6</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>
Acetaldehyde	2.7 × 10 <sup>-6</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>
Ethyl benzene	2.5 × 10 <sup>-6</sup> (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) <sup>-1</sup>

The complete list of IURs for Toxic Air Contaminants developed under the Hot Spots Program can be found at <u>https://oehha.ca.gov/media/downloads/crnr/appendixa.pdf</u>.

#### VII. REFERENCES

Albert DM, Frayer WC, Black HE, Massicotte SJ, Sang DN, and Soque J (1986). The harderian gland: its tumors and its relevance to humans. Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc. 84: 321–341. Last accessed September 2024, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1298742/pdf/taos00015-0346.pdf

Aleksunes LM and Klaassen CD (2012). Coordinated regulation of hepatic phase I and II drug-metabolizing genes and transporters using AhR-, CAR-, PXR-, PPAR-, and Nrf2-null mice. Drug Metab Dispos. 40: 1366–1379. DOI: 10.1124/dmd.112.045112

Anderson EL (1983). Quantitative approaches in use to assess cancer risk. Risk Anal. 3(4): 277–95. DOI: 10.1111/j.1539-6924.1983.tb01396.x

Arand M, Herrero-Plana ME, Hengstler JG, Lohmann M, Cronin A, and Oesch F (2003). Detoxification strategy of epoxide hydrolase. The basis for a threshold in chemical carcinogenesis. EXCLI J. 2: 22–30. Last accessed December 2024, from <a href="https://www.excli.de/vol2/Arand\_et\_al.pdf">https://www.excli.de/vol2/Arand\_et\_al.pdf</a>

Bailer AJ and Portier CJ (1988). Effects of treatment-induced mortality and tumorinduced mortality on tests for carcinogenicity in small samples. Biometrics. 44(2): 417–431. DOI:10.2307/2531856

Begemann P, Boysen G, Georgieva NI, Sangaiah R, Koshlap KM, Koc H, Zhang D, Golding BT, Gold A, and Swenberg JA (2011). Identification and characterization of 2'-deoxyadenosine adducts formed by isoprene monoepoxides *in vitro*. Chem Res Toxicol. 24(7): 1048–1061. DOI: 10.1021/tx200055c

Bogaards JJP, Freidig AP, and van Bladeren PJ (2001). Prediction of isoprene diepoxide levels *in vivo* in mouse, rat and man using enzyme kinetic data *in vitro* and physiologically-based pharmacokinetic modelling. Chem-Biol Interact. 138(3): 247–265. DOI: 10.1016/s0009-2797(01)00276-9

Bogaards JJP, Vanekamp JC, and van Bladeren PJ (1996). The biotransformation of isoprene and the two isoprene monoepoxides by human cytochrome P450 enzymes, compared to mouse and rat liver microsomes. Chem-Biol Interact. 102: 169–182. DOI: 10.1016/s0009-2797(96)03741-6

Bond JA, Bechtold WE, Birnbaum L, Dahl AR, Medinsky MA, Sun JD, and Henderson RF (1991). Disposition of inhaled isoprene in B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 107(3): 494–503. DOI: 10.1016/0041-008x(91)90312-3

Boniol M, Koechlin A, and Boyle P (2017). Meta-analysis of occupational exposures in the rubber manufacturing industry and risk of cancer. Int J Epidemiol. 46(3): 1940–1947. DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyx146

Boogaard PJ, de Kloe KP, Booth ED, and Watson WP (2004). DNA adducts in rats and mice following exposure to [4-<sup>14</sup>C]-1,2-epoxy-3-butene and to [2,3-<sup>14</sup>C]-1,3-butadiene. Chem-Biol Interact. 148 (1–2): 69–92. DOI: 10.1016/j.cbi.2004.02.002

Borbon A, Fontaine H, Veillerot M, Locoge N, Galloo JC, and Guillermo R (2001). An investigation into the traffic-related fraction of isoprene at an urban location. Atmos Environ. 35: 3749–3760. DOI: 10.1016/S1352-2310(01)00170-4

Brix AE, Hardisty JF, and McConnell EE (2010). Combining neoplasms for evaluation of rodent carcinogenesis studies. In: *Cancer Risk Assessment*. C-H Hsu and T Stedeford eds. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. pp. 619–715.

Brochu P, Brodeur J, and Krishnan K (2012). Derivation of cardiac output and alveolar ventilation rate based on energy expenditure measurements in healthy males and females. J Appl Toxicol. 32: 564–580. DOI: 10.1002/jat.1651. Last accessed December 2024, from

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1352231001001704/pdfft?md5=38 8aa1f7908023101483164141741101&pid=1-s2.0-S1352231001001704-main.pdf

Buckley LA, Coleman DP, Burgess JP, Thomas BF, Burka LT, and Jeffcoat RA (1999). Identification of urinary metabolites of isoprene in rats and comparison with mouse urinary metabolites. Drug Metab Dispos. 27(7): 848–854. Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://dmd.aspetjournals.org/content/dmd/27/7/848.full.pdf</u>

CARB (2013). Recommendations to the California Public Utilities Commission Regarding Health Protective Standards for the Injection of Biomethane into the Common Carrier Pipeline. Last accessed December 2024, from https://oehha.ca.gov/media/final ab 1900 staff report appendices 051513.pdf

CARB (2019). California Emissions Projection Analysis Model (<u>CEPAM2019v1.03</u>) - California 2019 Ozone State Implementation Plan (SIP) Baseline Emission Projection data. Base year: 2017. Provided by the California Air Resources Board (CARB), July 11, 2023. Last accessed December 2024.

CARB (2023). *CEPAM2019v1.03* - *Standard Emission Tool. Emission Projection Data By EIC [Emission Inventory Code]*. 2017 Annual Average Emissions (Tons/Day). Statewide, Natural Sources, 910-Biogenic Sources. California Air Resources Board (CARB). Last accessed December 2024, from <a href="https://www.arb.ca.gov/app/emsinv/iframe/2021/emseic\_query.php?F\_YR=2017&F\_DIV=4&F\_SEASON=A&SP=2019V103ADJ&SPN=2019V103ADJ&F\_AREA=CA&F\_EICSUM=910">https://www.arb.ca.gov/app/emsinv/iframe/2021/emseic\_query.php?F\_YR=2017&F\_DIV=4&F\_SEASON=A&SP=2019V103ADJ&SPN=2019V103ADJ&F\_AREA=CA&F\_EICSUM=910</a>

CARB (2024). *Study of Neighborhood Air near Petroleum Sources*. California Air Resources Board (CARB). Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/documents/snaps-lost-hills-draft-final-report</u>

Cailleux A, Cogny M, and Allain P (1992). Blood isoprene concentrations in humans and in some animal species. Biochem Med Metab Biol. 47(2): 157–160. DOI: 10.1016/0885-4505(92)90019-u

Chiappe C, De Rubertis A, Tinagli V, Amato G, and Gervasi PG (2000). Stereochemical course of the biotransformation of isoprene monoepoxides and of the corresponding diols with liver microsomes from control and induced rats. Chem Res Toxicol. 13: 831–838. DOI: 10.1021/tx000061a

Clegg ED, Cook JC, Chapin RE, Foster PM, and Daston GP (1997). Leydig cell hyperplasia and adenoma formation: mechanisms and relevance to humans. Reprod Toxicol. Jan–Feb, 11(1): 107–121. DOI: 10.1016/s0890-6238(96)00203-1

Csanády GA and Filser JG (2001) Toxicokinetics of inhaled and endogenous isoprene in mice, rats, and humans. Chem-Biol Interact. 135–136: 679–685. DOI: 10.1016/s0009-2797(01)00204-6

Dahl AR, Birnbaum LS, Bond JA, Gervasi PG, and Henderson RF (1987). The fate of isoprene inhaled by rats: comparison to butadiene. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 89: 237–48. DOI: 10.1016/0041-008x(87)90044-5

Decker M, Arand M, and Cronin A (2009). Mammalian epoxide hydrolases in xenobiotic metabolism and signalling. Arch Toxicol. 83: 297–318. DOI: 10.1007/s00204-009-0416-0

de Meester C, Mercier M, and Poncelet F (1981). MutagenIc activity of butadiene, hexachloro-butadine and isoprene. In: *Industrial and Environmental Xenobiotics*. Gut I, Cikrt M, and Plaa GL, eds. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg. 195–203.

Eaves LA, Smeester L, Hartwell HJ, Lin Y-H, Arashiro M, Zhang Z, Gold A, Surratt JD, and Fry RC (2020). Isoprene-derived organic secondary aerosol induces the expression of MicroRNAs associated with inflammatory/oxidative stress response in lung cells. Chem Res Toxicol. 33(2): 381–387. DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemrestox.9b00322

ECHA (2018). *Background Document on Germ Cell Mutagenicity*. European Chemicals Agency (ECHA). Helsinki, Finland. Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/26175471/msc-</u> <u>rac\_ws\_background\_mutagenicity\_20181011\_en.pdf/6bed9152-ad45-ffad-9279-</u> <u>f737fb0aa65a</u>

ECHA (2023). Isoprene. EC number: 201-143-3, CAS number: 78-79-5. Carcinogenicity. European Chemicals Agency (ECHA). Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://echa.europa.eu/registration-dossier/-/registered-dossier/16096/7/8</u>

Eighmy JJ, Sharma AK, and Blackshear PE (2018). Mammary gland. Chapter 21. In: *Boorman's Pathology of the Rat*: Elsevier. 369–388.

Fabiani R, Rosignoli P, De Bartolomeo A, Fuccelli R, and Morozzi G (2007). DNAdamaging ability of isoprene and isoprene mono-epoxide (EPOX I) in human cells evaluated with the comet assay. Mutat Res. 629(1): 7–13. DOI: 10.1016/j.mrgentox.2006.12.007

Fabiani R, Rosignoli P, De Bartolomeo A, Fuccelli R, and Morozzi G (2012). Genotoxicity of alkene epoxides in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and HL60 leukaemia cells evaluated with the comet assay. Mutat Res. 747(1): 1–6. DOI: 10.1016/j.mrgentox.2012.01.004

Faustov, AS (1972). [The toxic-hygienic characteristics of the gas factor in production of several types of common synthetic rubber]. Tr Voronezh med Inst. 87, 10-16 (in Russian)

Filser JG, Csanády GA, Denk B, Harmann M, Kauffmann A, Kessler W, Kreuzer PE, Putz C, Shen JH, and Stei P (1996). Toxicokinetics of isoprene in rodents and humans. Toxicology. 113(1–3): 278–87. DOI: 10.1016/0300-483x(96)03457-9

Filser JG, Hutzler H, Meischner M, Veereshwarayya V, and Csanády GA (2007). Metabolism of 1,3-butadiene to toxicologically relevant metabolites in single-exposed mice and rats. Chem-Biol Interact. 166 (1–3): 93–103. DOI: 10.1016/j.cbi.2006.03.002

Fred C, Grawe J, and Tornqvist M (2005). Hemoglobin adducts and micronuclei in rodents after treatment with isoprene monoxide or butadiene monoxide. Mutat Res. 585: 21–32. DOI: 10.1016/j.mrgentox.2005.03.009

Galloway SM, Armstrong MJ, Reuben C, Colman S, Brown B, Cannon C, Bloom AD, Nakamura F, Ahmed M, Duk S, Rimpo J, Margolin BH, Resnick MA, Anderson B, and Zeiger E (1987). Chromosome aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamster ovary cells: evaluations of 108 chemicals. Environ Mol Mutagen. 10 (Suppl. 10): 1–175. DOI: 10.1002/em.2850100502

Gervasi PG, Citti L, Del Monte M, Longo V, and Benetti D (1985). Mutagenicity and chemical reactivity of epoxidic intermediates of the isoprene metabolism and other structurally related compounds. Mutat Res. 156: 77–82. DOI: 10.1016/0165-1218(85)90009-6

Gervasi PG and Longo V (1990) Metabolism and mutagenicity of isoprene. Environ Health Perspect. 86: 85–7. DOI: 10.1289/ehp.908685

Ginsberg G, Guyton K, Johns D, Schimek J, Angle K, and Sonawane B (2010). Genetic polymorphism in metabolism and host defense enzymes: implications for human health risk assessment. Crit Rev Toxicol. 40(7): 575–619. DOI: 10.3109/10408441003742895 Ginsberg G, Smolenski S, Hattis D, Guyton KZ, Johns DO, and Sonawane B (2009a). Genetic polymorphism in glutathione transferases (GST): Population distribution of GSTM1, T1, and P1 conjugating activity. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev. 12(5–6): 389–439. DOI: 10.1080/10937400903158375

Ginsberg G, Smolenski S, Neafsey P, Hattis D, Walker K, Guyton KZ, Johns DO, and Sonawane B (2009b). The influence of genetic polymorphisms on population variability in six xenobiotic-metabolizing enzymes. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev. 12(5–6): 307–333. DOI: 10.1080/10937400903158318

Gold LS and Zeiger E, Eds. (1997). *Handbook of Carcinogenic Potency and Genotoxicity Databases*. CRC Press. Boca Raton, FL. ISBN 0849326842.

Golding BT, Cottrell L, Mackay D, Zhang D, and Watson WP (2003). Stereochemical and kinetic comparisons of mono- and diepoxide formation in the *in vitro* metabolism of isoprene by liver microsomes from rats, mice, and humans. Chem Res Toxicol. 16: 933–944. DOI: 10.1021/tx034061x

Golding BT, Abelairas-Edesa M, Tilbury RD, Wilson JP, Zhang D, Henderson AP, Bleasdale C, Clegg W, and Watson WP (2022). Influence of the methyl group in isoprene epoxides on reactivity compared to butadiene epoxides: Biological significance. Chem Bio Int. 361: 109949. DOI: 10.1016/j.cbi.2022.109949

Guenther A, Karl T, Harley P, Wiedinmyer C, Palmer PI, and Geron C (2006). Estimates of global terrestrial isoprene emissions using MEGAN (model of emissions of gases and aerosols from nature). Atmos Chem Phys. 6: 3181–3210. DOI: 10.5194/acp-6-3181-2006

Hakkola J, Hukkanen J, Turpeinen M, and Pelkonen O (2020). Inhibition and induction of CYP enzymes in humans: an update. Arch Toxicol. 94:3671–3722. DOI: 10.1007/s00204-020-02936-7

Haney Jr JT, Phillips T, Sielken Jr RL, and Valdez-Flores C (2015). Development of an inhalation unit risk factor for isoprene. Reg Tox Pharm. 73:712–725. DOI: 10.1016/j.yrtph.2015.10.030

Hassett C, Lin J, Carty CL, Laurenzana EM, and Omiecinski CJ (1997). Human hepatic microsomal epoxide hydrolase: comparative analysis of polymorphic expression. Arch Biochem Biophys. 337(2): 275–83. DOI: 10.1006/abbi.1996.9794

Hellen H, Tykka T, and Hakola H (2012). Importance of monoterpenes and isoprene in urban air in northern Europe. Atmos Environ. 59: 59–66. DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2012.04.049

Hurst HE (2007). Toxicology of 1,3-butadiene, chloroprene, and isoprene. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol. 189: 131–79. DOI: 10.1007/978-0-387-35368-5\_6

IARC (1982). *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans: The Rubber Industry*. Volume 28. World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). Last accessed December 2024, from

https://publications.iarc.fr/\_publications/media/download/1576/535bcb940c01e84f0ac bfc089ef7bc832813b61a.pdf

IARC (1994). *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans: Some Industrial Chemicals*. Volume 60. World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://publications.iarc.fr/\_publications/media/download/2017/91e1d37ff33b7285b94</u> <u>ec62e51e19cdd5107a549.pdf</u>

IARC (1999). *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Re-Evaluation of Some Organic Chemicals, Hydrazine and Hydrogen Peroxide.* Volume 71. World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). Last accessed December 2024, from

https://publications.iarc.fr/\_publications/media/download/2279/d7e4bcce9c42cec078 b965c33b0298cf0a3aff3d.pdf

IARC (2012). *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans,* Chemical Agents and Related Occupations: A Review of Human Carcinogens. No. 100F. IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). Last accessed December 2024, from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK304416/pdf/Bookshelf\_NBK304416.pdf

IARC (2019) *IARC Monographs on the Identification of Carcinogenic Hazards to Humans, Preamble*. World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). Last accessed December 2024, from <a href="https://monographs.iarc.who.int/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Preamble-2019.pdf">https://monographs.iarc.who.int/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Preamble-2019.pdf</a>

Ishii Y, Takeda S, Yamada H, and Oguri K (2005). Functional protein-protein interaction of drug metabolizing enzymes. Front Biosci. 10: 887–895. DOI: 10.2741/1583

Jauhar PP, Henika PR, MacGrego, JT, Wehr CM, Shelby MD, Murphy SA, and Margolin BH (1988). 1,3-Butadiene: induction of micronucleated erythrocytes in the peripheral blood of B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice exposed by inhalation for 13 weeks. Mutat Res. 209: 171–176. DOI: 10.1016/0165-7992(88)90037-1

Khan MA and Heddle JA (1991). Chemical induction of somatic gene mutations and chromosomal aberrations in lung fibroblasts of rats. Mutat Res. 263: 257–262. DOI: 10.1016/0165-7992(91)90010-2

Khan MA and Heddle JA (1992). Optimization of the concurrent assay for gene mutations and chromosomal aberrations *in vivo*: expression time in rats. Environ Mol Mutagen. 20: 165–171. DOI: 10.1002/em.2850200305

Kiendler-Scharr A, Wildt J, Del Maso M, Hohaus T, Kleist E, Mentel T, Tillmann R, Uerlings R, Schurr U, and Wahner A (2009). New particle formation in forests inhibited by isoprene emissions. Nature. 461(7262): 381–384. DOI: 10.1038/nature08292

Koc H, Tretyakova NY, Walker VE, Henderson RF, and Swenberg JA (1999). Molecular dosimetry of N-7 guanine adduct formation in mice and rats exposed to 1,3-butadiene. Chem Res Toxicol. 12(7): 566–574. DOI: 10.1021/tx980265f

Kohn MC and Melnick RL (2000). The privileged access model of 1,3-butadiene disposition. Environ Health Perspect. 108 Suppl 5: 911–917. DOI: 10.1289/ehp.00108s5911

Koivisto P, Kilpelainen I, Rasanen I, Adler ID, Pacchierotti F, and Peltonen K (1999). Butadiene diolepoxide- and diepoxybutane-derived DNA adducts at N7-guanine, a high occurrence of diol epoxide-derived adducts in mouse lung after 1,3-butadiene exposure. Carcinogenesis. 20(7): 1253–1259. DOI: 10.1093/carcin/20.7.1253

Koivisto P and Peltonen K (2001). N7-guanine adducts of the epoxy metabolites of 1,3-butadiene in mice lung. Chem-Biol Interact. 135–136: 363–372. DOI: 10.1016/s0009-2797(01)00178-8

Kushi A, Yoshida D, and Mizusaki S (1985). Mutagenicity of gaseous nitrogen oxides and olefins on *Salmonella* TA102 and TA104 (Abstract No. 23). Mutat Res. 147: 263–26.

Lee B-S and Wang J-L (2006). Concentration variation of isoprene and its implications for peak ozone concentration. Atmos Environ. 40: 5486–5495. DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2006.03.035

Li Y, Pelah A, An J, Yu Y, and Zhang X (2014). Concentration- and time-dependent genotoxicity profiles of isoprene monoepoxides and diepoxide, and the cross-linking potential of isoprene diepoxide in cells. Toxicol Rep. 1: 36–45. DOI: 10.1016/j.toxrep.2014.03.002

Lipscomb JC and Kedderis GL (2002). Incorporating human interindividual biotransformation variance in health risk assessment. Sci Total Environ. 288(1–2): 13–21. DOI: 10.1016/s0048-9697(01)01115-9

Lipscomb JC and Kedderis GL (2006). Use of Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Models to Quantify the Impact of Human Age and Interindividual Differences in Physiology and Biochemistry Pertinent to Risk, Final Report. United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA), National Center for Environmental Assessment. EPA/600/R-06/014A, March 2006. Last accessed December 2024, from https://ordspub.epa.gov/ords/eims/eimscomm.getfile?p\_download\_id=458590 Lipscomb JC, Teuschler LK, Swartout J, Popken D, Cox T, and Kedderis GL (2003). The impact of cytochrome P450 2E1-dependent metabolic variance on a risk-relevant pharmacokinetic outcome in humans. Risk Anal. 23(6): 1221–1238. DOI: 10.1111/j.0272-4332.2003.00397.x

Liu S, Barletta B, Hornbrook RS, Fried A, Peischl J, Meinardi S, Coggon M, Lamplugh A, Gilman JB, Gkatzelis GI, Warneke C, Apel EC, Hills AJ, Bourgeois I, Walega J, Weibring P, Richter D, Kuwayama T, FitzGibbon M, and Blake D (2022). Composition and reactivity of volatile organic compounds in the South Coast Air Basin and San Joaquin Valley of California. Atmos Chem Phys. 22: 10937–10954. DOI: 10.5194/acp-22-10937-2022

Loreto F and Sharkey TD (1993). On the relationship between isoprene emissions and photosynthetic metabolites under different environmental conditions. Planta. 189(3):420–424. DOI: 10.1007/BF00194440

McConnell EE, Solleveld HA, Swenberg JA, and Boorman GA (1986). Guidelines for combining neoplasms for evaluation of rodent carcinogenesis studies. J Natl Cancer Inst. 76:283–289.

Meng RQ, Hackfeld LC, Hedge RP, Wisse LA, Redetzke DL, and Walker VE (2010). *Mutagenicity of Stereochemical Configurations of 1,3-Butadiene Epoxy Metabolites in Human Cells*. Research Report 150. Health Effects Institute. 1–34. Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://www.healtheffects.org/system/files/Meng\_150.pdf</u>

Merriam-Webster (2023a). Michaelis-Menten kinetics. *Merriam-Webster Medical Dictionary*. Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/medical/Michaelis-Menten%20kinetics</u>

Merriam-Webster (2023b). Stereoisomer. *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*. Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/stereoisomer</u>

Mertes I, Fleischmann R, Glatt HR, and Oesch F (1985). Interindividual variations in the activities of cytosolic and microsomal epoxide hydrolase in human liver. Carcinogenesis. 6(2): 219–23. DOI: 10.1093/carcin/6.2.219

Miekisch W, Schubert JK, Vagts DA and Geiger K (2001). Analysis of volatile disease markers in blood. Clin Chem. 47:1053–1060.

Mitin, YV (1969). [Changes in the upper respiratory tract in isoprene rubber production workers]. Zh Ushn Nos Gorl Bolezn. 29, 79-83 (in Russian).

Mochalski P, King J, Kupferthaler A, Unterkofler K, Hinterhuber H, and Amann A (2011). Measurement of isoprene solubility in water, human blood and plasma by multiple headspace extraction gas chromatography coupled with solid phase microextraction. J Breath Res. 5(4): 046010. DOI: 10.1088/1752-7155/5/4/046010

Mochalski P, King J, Mayhew CA, and Unterkofler K (2023). A review on isoprene in human breath. J Breath Res. 17: 037101. DOI: 10.1088/1752-7163/acc964

Molinier B, Arata C, Lunderberg D, Katz E, Ofodile J, Sweet N, Singer B, Nazaroff W, and Goldstein A (2022). Investigating the accumulation and removal of volatile organic bioeffluents in a bedroom during sleep. Abstract A32E-1459. Presented at the 2022 American Geophysical Union Fall Meeting, Chicago, IL, 12–16 December. Last accessed December 2024, from https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2022AGUFM.A32E1459M/abstract

Mortelmans K, Haworth S, Lawlor T, Speck W, Tainer B, and Zeiger E (1986). *Salmonella* mutagenicity tests: II. Results from the testing of 270 chemicals. Environ Mutagen. 8 (Suppl. 7): 1–119.

NCBI (2023). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 6557, Isoprene. National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Last accessed December 2024, from <a href="https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Isoprene">https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Isoprene</a>

Nelson N, Lagesson V, Nosratabadi AR, Ludvigsson J, and Tagesson C (1998). Exhaled isoprene and acetone in newborn infants and in children with diabetes mellitus. Pediatr Res. 44:363–367. DOI: 10.1203/00006450-199809000-00016

NOAA (1999). *Isoprene.* CAMEO Chemicals database. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). Last accessed December 2024, from <a href="https://cameochemicals.noaa.gov/chris/IPR.pdf">https://cameochemicals.noaa.gov/chris/IPR.pdf</a>

NRC (2009). *Science and Decisions: Advancing Risk Assessment*. National Research Council (NRC). The National Academies Press. Washington, D.C.

NTP (1995). *NTP Technical Report on Toxicity Studies of Isoprene (CAS No. 78-79-5) Administered by Inhalation to F344/N Rats and B6C3F*<sup>1</sup> *Mice*. National Toxicology Program (NTP). Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/sites/default/files/ntp/htdocs/st\_rpts/tox031.pdf</u>

NTP (1999). *NTP Technical Report on the Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Isoprene (CAS No. 78-79-5) in F344/N rats (Inhalation Studies)*. National Toxicology Program (NTP). Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/sites/default/files/ntp/htdocs/lt\_rpts/tr486.pdf</u>

NTP (2021). Isoprene. In, *15<sup>th</sup> Report on Carcinogens*. National Toxicology Program (NTP). Research Triangle Park, NC. Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/roc/content/profiles/isoprene.pdf</u>

NTP (2023). Historical Controls. National Toxicology Program (NTP). Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/data/controls</u>

OEHHA (1996). *Isoprene*. Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA). Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://oehha.ca.gov/proposition-65/chemicals/isoprene</u>

OEHHA (2008). *Technical Support Document for the Derivation of Noncancer Reference Exposure Levels.* Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA). June 2008. Last accessed December 2024, from <u>http://www.oehha.ca.gov/air/hot\_spots/rels\_dec2008.html</u>

OEHHA (2009). Technical Support Document for Cancer Potency Factors, Methodologies for Derivation, Listing of Available Values, and Adjustments to Allow for Early Life Stage Exposures. California Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA). May 2009. Last accessed December 2024, from

https://oehha.ca.gov/media/downloads/crnr/tsdcancerpotency.pdf

OEHHA (2015). *Risk Assessment Guidelines. Guidance Manual for Preparation of Health Risk Assessments.* California Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA). May 2009. Last accessed December 2024, from

https://oehha.ca.gov/media/downloads/crnr/2015guidancemanual.pdf

Park C, Schade G, and Boedeker I (2011). Characteristics of the flux of isoprene and its oxidation products in an urban area. J Geophys Res Atmos. 116: D21303. DOI: 10.1029/2011JD015856. Last accessed December 2024, from <a href="https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1029/2011JD015856">https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1029/2011JD015856</a>

Pavek P and Dvorak Z (2008). Xenobiotic-induced transcriptional regulation of xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes of the cytochrome P450 superfamily in human extrahepatic tissues. Curr Drug Metab. 9(2): 129–43. DOI: 10.2174/138920008783571774

Pelekis ML, Krishnan K (2004). Magnitude and mechanistic determinants of the interspecies toxicokinetic uncertainty factor for organic chemicals. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 40: 264–271. DOI: 10.1016/j.yrtph.2004.07.004

Pennington ER, Masood S, Simmons SO, Dailey L, Bromberg PA, Rice RL, Gold A, Zhang Z, Wu W, Yang Y, and Samet JM (2023). Real-time redox adaptations in human airway epithelial cells exposed to isoprene hydroxy hydroperoxide (Epub ahead of publication). DOI: 10.1016/j.redox.2023.102646

Peter H, Wiegand HJ, Filser JG, Bolt HM, and Laib RJ (1990). Inhalation pharmacokinetics of isoprene in rats and mice. Environ Health Perspect. 86: 89–92. DOI: 10.1289/ehp.908689

Peter H, Wiegand HJ, Bolt HM, Greim H, Walter G, Berg M, and Filser JG (1987). Pharmacokinetics of isoprene in mice and rats. Toxicol Lett. 36(1), 9–14. DOI: 10.1016/0378-4274(87)90035-x

Pigolev, SA (1968). [Improving the working conditions in an isoprene rubber plant]. Gig Tf. Prof Zabol, 37-38 (in Russian).

Placke ME, Griffis L, Bird M, Bus J, Persing RL, and Cox LA Jr (1996). Chronic inhalation oncogenicity study of isoprene in B6C3F<sub>1</sub> mice. Toxicology. 110: 253–262. DOI: 10.1016/0300-483x(96)03454-3

Reimann S, Calanca P, and Hofer P (2000). The anthropogenic contribution to isoprene concentrations in a rural atmosphere. Atmos Environ. 34: 109–115. DOI: 10.1016/S1352-2310(99)00285-X

Sharkey TD and Yeh S (2001). Isoprene emission from plants. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol. 52: 407–436. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.arplant.52.1.407

Shiraiwa M, Li Y, Tsimpidi AP, Karydis VA, Berkemeier T, Pandis SN, Lelieveld J, Koop T, and Pöschl U (2017). Global distribution of particle phase state in atmospheric secondary organic aerosols. Nat Commun. 8: 15002. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms15002

Simmons JB, Paton-Walsh C, Mouat A, Kaiser J, Humphries R, Keywood M, Griffith D, Sutresna A, Naylor T, and Ramirez-Gamboa J (2022). Bushfire smoke plume composition and toxicological assessment from the 2019–2020 Australian black summer. Air Qual Atm Hlth. 15: 2067–2089. DOI: 10.1007/s11869-022-01237-5. Last accessed December 2024, from

https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s11869-022-01237-5.pdf?pdf=button

Small RD, Golding BT, and Watson WP (1997). Species differences in the stereochemistry of the metabolism of isoprene *in vitro*. Xenobiotica. 27(11): 1155–1164. DOI: 10.1080/004982597239912

Smith D, Spanel P, Enderby B, Lenney W, Turner C, and Davies SJ (2010). Isoprene levels in the exhaled breath of 200 healthy pupils within the age range 7–18 years studied using SIFT-MS. J Breath Res. 4: 017101. DOI: 10.1088/1752-7155/4/1/017101

Soeteman-Hernández LG, Johnson GE, and Slob W (2015). Estimating carcinogenic potency of chemicals from the in vivo micronucleus test. Mutagenesis. 31(3):347–358. DOI: 10.1093/mutage/gev043.

Sola-Martínez RA, Lozano Terol G, Gallego-Jara J, Morales E, García-Marcos L, Noguera-Velasco JA, Cánovas Díaz M, and de Diego Puente T on behalf of the NELA [(Nutrition in Early Childhood Asthma] Study Group (2022). Influence of home indoor dampness on volatile organic compounds in exhaled breath of mothers and their infants: the NELA birth cohort. Appl Sci. 12(14): 6864. DOI: 10.3390/app12146864. Last accessed December 2024, from https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3417/12/14/6864/pdf?version=1657183047

Sukul P, Richter A, Junghanss C, Schubert JK, Miekisch W (2023). Origin of breath isoprene in humans is revealed via multi-omic investigations. Commun Biol. 6: https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-023-05384-y

Sun JD, Dahl AR, Bond JA, Birnbaum LS, and Henderson RF (1989). Characterization of hemoglobin adduct formation in mice and rats after administration of [<sup>14</sup>C]butadiene or [<sup>14</sup>C]isoprene. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 100: 86–95. DOI: 10.1016/0041-008x(89)90093-8

Thomas RS, Bigelow PL, Keefe TJ, and Yang RSH (1996). Variability in biological exposure indices using physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling and Monte Carlo simulation. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J. 57(1): 23–32. DOI: 10.1080/15428119691015188

Tice RR, Boucher R, Luke CA, Paquette DE, Melnick RL, and Shelby MD (1988). Chloroprene and isoprene: cytogenetic studies in mice. Mutagenesis. 3(2): 141–146. DOI: 10.1093/mutage/3.2.141

US EPA (2005). *Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment*. Risk Assessment Forum, United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). EPA/630/P-03/001F. March 2005. Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2013-</u> 09/documents/cancer guidelines final 3-25-05.pdf

US EPA (2012). *Benchmark Dose Technical Guidance*. EPA/100/R-12/001. Risk Assessment Forum. United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-</u>01/documents/benchmark\_dose\_guidance.pdf

US EPA (2022). *Benchmark Dose Software Version 3.3 User Guide*. EPA/600/R-21/245. United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). Last accessed December 2024, from https://ordspub.epa.gov/ords/eims/eimscomm.getfile?p\_download\_id=545595

US EPA (2023). TRI Explorer (2021 National Analysis Dataset, updated and released May 2023). United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) Database. Last accessed December 2024, from <u>https://enviro.epa.gov/triexplorer/tri\_release.chemical</u> Wagner P and Kuttler W (2014). Biogenic and anthropogenic isoprene in the nearsurface urban atmosphere – A case study in Essen, Germany. Sci Total Environ. 475: 104–115. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.12.026

Walker K, Hattis D, Russ A, and Ginsberg G (2005). *Physiologically-Based Toxicokinetic Modeling for Acrylamide—Risk Implications of Polymorphisms and Developmental Changes in Selected Metabolic Enzymes*. George Perkins Marsh Institute, Clark University, and the Connecticut Department of Public Health to the US Environmental Protection Agency under Cooperative Agreement. #827195–0.

Wang Y, Lin C, Lin Y, Wang Y, Weng W, and Kuo Y (2016). Characteristics and determinants of ambient volatile organic compounds in primary schools. Environ Sci Processes Impacts. 18: 1458–1468. DOI: 10.1039/C6EM00491A

Watson WP, Cottrell L, Zhang D, and Golding BT (2001). Metabolism and molecular toxicology of isoprene. Chem-Biol Interact. 135-136: 223–238.

Wenker MA, Kezić S, Monster AC, and de Wolff FA (2000). Metabolism of styrene-7,8-oxide in human liver *in vitro*: interindividual variation and stereochemistry. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 169(1): 52–58. DOI: 10.1006/taap.2000.9038

Wernis RA, Kreisberg NM, Weber RJ, Drozd GT, and Goldstein AH (2022). Source apportionment of VOCs, IVOCs and SVOCs by positive matrix factorization in suburban Livermore, California. Atmos Chem Phys. 22: 14987–15019. DOI: 10.5194/acp-22-14987-2022

Yee LD, Isaacman-VanWertz G, Wernis RA, Kreisberg NM, Glasius M, Riva M, Surratt JD, de Sá SS, Martin ST, Alexander ML, Palm BB, Hu W, Campuzano-Jost P, Day DA, Jimenez JL, Liu Y, Misztal PK, Artaxo P, Viegas J, Manzi A, de Souza RAF, Edgerton ES, Baumann K, and Goldstein AH (2020). Natural and anthropogenically influenced isoprene oxidation in Southeastern United States and Central Amazon. Environ Sci Technol. 54(10): 5980–5991. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.0c00805

#### APPENDIX A: LITERATURE SEARCH

The literature summarized and referenced in the present document covers the relevant publicly available reports and original peer-reviewed research articles on isoprene through July 2024. Searches were executed in PubMed, Embase, Scopus and SciFinder. Synonyms for isoprene were identified using the United States Environmental Protection Agency's (US EPA's) CompTox Chemicals Dashboard (<u>https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard/</u>), and PubMed's MeSH database (<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/</u>). The search was run initially in PubMed, then the search terms and syntax were adapted to suit the other databases used. In addition to the formal database searches, the reference lists of included papers and citations in later publications were reviewed and supplemental periodic keyword searches were done in internet search engines, such as Google Scholar.



APPENDIX B: BENCHMARK DOSE MODELING OF TUMORS IN MALE RATS (NTP, 1999)

**Figure B-1. Benchmark Dose results for renal tubule adenomas or carcinomas in male rats from the NTP (1999) carcinogenicity study.** The line graph shows the Frequentist Multistage Degree 1 model with a benchmark response (BMR) of 5% extra risk for the benchmark dose (BMD) and 95% lower confidence limit for the benchmark dose (BMDL).



**Figure B-2. Benchmark Dose results for mammary gland fibroadenomas and carcinomas (combined) in male rats from the NTP (1999) carcinogenicity study.** The line graph shows the Frequentist Multistage Degree 1 model with a benchmark response (BMR) of 5% extra risk for the benchmark dose (BMD) and 95% lower confidence limit for the benchmark dose (BMDL).



**Figure B-3. Benchmark Dose results for testis adenomas in male rats from the NTP (1999) carcinogenicity study.** The line graph shows the Frequentist Multistage Degree 1 model with a benchmark response (BMR) of 5% extra risk for the benchmark dose (BMD) and 95% lower confidence limit for the benchmark dose (BMDL).